
 
www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Tel:  0345 605 3010 

 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
Thursday, 12 August 2021, 2.00 pm 

Council Chamber - Moorlands House, Leek 

 
Contact Officer: Pat Trafford. 01538 395551 - 

pat.trafford@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 

SITE VISITS: As site visits cannot currently be undertaken 
members of the Committee will be shown a video on 
the morning of the meeting giving all necessary 
views of the applications on the agenda. 

 
This meeting will be held in the Council Chamber and will be subject to 
social distancing measures for its duration. Members of the public are 
recommended to follow the meeting via the webcast which will be 
streamed live on the Council’s website at - https://staffsmoorlands.public-
i.tv/core/portal/Webcast 
Limited seating will be available in the public gallery on a 1st come, 1st 
served basis. 
Face masks must be worn for the duration of the meeting by all attendees 
and only removed when speaking. 
 

Speaking at Committee: Under the Council's Constitution, applicants (or their 
agent) and objectors/supporters are eligible to speak at this Committee for 3 minutes 
each.  The maximum number of speakers on any item is six (three speakers for and 
three speakers against) plus any Ward Councillors.  All speakers, including Ward 
Councillors, should register with Democratic Services (email 
democratic.services@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk or tel: 01538 395551) 
from 10.00 a.m. the day after the agenda is published until 4.00 p.m. on the 
Monday of the week of the meeting. Also please note that speakers need to re-
register if an application has been previously withdrawn from an agenda. Registered 
speakers should attend the meeting no later than 15 minutes before the start of the 
meeting (guidance will be provided during registration).   
 

An information leaflet relating to these procedures is available from the main Council 
Offices, on the Council’s website and will be available at the meeting.  Speakers are 
advised to read the leaflet prior to the meeting. 
 

You can view the agenda 
online by using a smart 
phone camera and 
scanning the code below: 

 

Public Document Pack

https://staffsmoorlands.public-i.tv/core/portal/Webcast
https://staffsmoorlands.public-i.tv/core/portal/Webcast
mailto:democratic.services@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


Planning Applications Committee - Thursday, 12 August 2021 
 
 

A G E N D A  (Continued) 
 
 

The order of business on the agenda may change at the discretion of the Chair.  As 
it is not possible to give a precise time when an item may be discussed, it is always 
advisable to arrive for the start of the meeting. 
 
Please be aware that meetings will be broadcast vie the Council’s website and may 
be recorded by representatives of the media or by members of the public. A 
guidance document for the recording of public Council meetings is available on the 
Council’s website. 
 

 
1. Chair's announcements  

 
a) Webcasting; 
b) Introductions of Members and Officers; 
c) Other announcements. 

 
2. Apologies for absence, if any.  

 
3. Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 8) 

 
 (a) To approve as a correct record the Public Minutes of the Planning 

Applications Committee held on 15 July 2021. 
 

 (b) Reports on matters arising, if any. 
 

4. Urgent items, if any.  
 

5. Declarations of Interest  
 
i. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests; 
ii. Other Interests; 
iii. Lobbying Interests. 
 

6. SMD/2021/0290 - Nab Hill House, Nab Hill Avenue, Leek (Pages 9 - 24) 
 

7. SMD/2021/0210 - Greywoods, Cheddleton Road, Leek (Pages 25 - 38) 
 

8. SMD/2021/0145 - Land on North East side of Rivendell Lane, Leek (Pages 39 - 
50) 
 

9. SMD/2020/0656 - Rosehill, Nabb Lane, Alton (Pages 51 - 72) 
 

10. SMD/2020/0705 - Mount Pleasant Farm, Counslow New Road, Freehay (Pages 
73 - 80) 
 

11. SMD/2021/0296 - Land at Cheadle Equestrian Centre, Eaves Lane, Cheadle 
(Pages 81 - 96) 
 



Planning Applications Committee - Thursday, 12 August 2021 
 
 

A G E N D A  (Continued) 
 
 

12. SMD/2021/0264 - Upper Moor End Farm, Stoney Lane, Cauldon (Pages 97 - 
106) 
 

13. SMD/2021/0332 - Beech Cottage, Cheadle Road, Oakamoor (Pages 107 - 114) 
 

14. NOTE - A Late Representations Report will be circulated prior to the meeting i.e. 
any representations received since this agenda was published.  
 
 
 
Published 4 August 2021 
 

 
Membership of Planning Applications Committee 
Councillor P Roberts (Chair) Councillor B Emery (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor B Cawley Councillor S Coleman 
Councillor J Davies Councillor S Ellis 
Councillor K Flunder Councillor M Gledhill 
Councillor T Holmes Councillor K Hoptroff 
Councillor P Jackson Councillor I Plant 
Councillor T Riley Councillor P Wilkinson 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

Minutes 
 

THURSDAY, 15 JULY 2021 
 
PRESENT: Councillor P Roberts (Chair)   
 
 Councillors B Cawley, S Coleman, J Davies, B Emery, M Gledhill, 

T Holmes, K Hoptroff, I Plant and T Riley 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: S Hampton Member and Community Services Officer 
 P Trafford Member & Community Services Officer 
 B Haywood 

J Price-Jones 
Head of Development Services 
Legal Advisor 

 
APOLOGIES: Councillors S Ellis, K Flunder, P Jackson and P Wilkinson 
 

235 CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

a) The Chair confirmed that the meeting was being broadcast live to the internet 
via the usual webcasting facility and was capable of repeated viewing. The 
images and sound recording could be used for training purposes within the 
Council. The Chair had the discretion to terminate or suspend filming if it was 
his opinion that continuing to do so would prejudice the proceedings of the 
meeting. Any views expressed by any speaker in the meeting were the 
speaker’s own and did not necessarily reflect the views of Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council. 

b) The meeting was held in the Council Chamber, Moorlands House. Members 
were seated a minimum of 2 meters apart. The Public Gallery was arranged 
so that social distancing requirements were met, with limited spaces 
available. 

c) Members of the Committee and Officers present were introduced by the 
Chair. 

d) The Chair requested that mobile phones be switched off or to silent. 
e) Given the social distancing restrictions in place due to the Coronavirus 

Pandemic, no actual site visits were undertaken relating to this meeting. 
However, photos/video were shown to all members both before and during 
the meeting showing all views of the application sites. 

f) Agenda Item 6 – SMD/2021/0296 – Land at Cheadle Equestrian Centre, 
Eaves Lane, Cheadle had been deferred by the Applicant prior to the 
meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Planning Applications Committee - 15 July 2021 
 

2 
 

236 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Applications 
Committee held on 24 June 2021 be APPROVED as a correct record and signed by 
the Chair. 
 
(Proposed by Councillor Riley and seconded by Councillor Gledhill.) 
 

237 URGENT ITEMS, IF ANY. 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

238 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
The following declarations were made at this point, unless stated otherwise:- 
 

Agenda Item 
Member Declaring 

Interest 
Nature of Interest 

Agenda Item 7 – 
SMD/2021/0196 –  
Land at Ball Green 
Farm, Woodhouse 
Lane, Brown Edge 

Cllrs. Cawley, Coleman, 
Davies, Emery, Gledhill, 
Holmes, Hoptroff, Plant, 

Riley & Roberts 

“Other” – 1 speaker was a 
fellow district cllr., 1 was a 
previous SMDC employee 

 
239 SMD/2021/0296 - LAND AT CHEADLE EQUESTRIAN CENTRE, EAVES 

LANE, CHEADLE - APPLICATION DEFERRED 
 
ERECTION OF A RURAL WORKER’S DWELLING FOR JENNIFER THOMPSON, 
VECTHOM SPORTS HORSES. 
 
The application was deferred prior to the meeting at the Applicant’s request. 
 

240 SMD/2021/0179 - LAND AT BALL GREEN FARM, WOODHOUSE LANE, 
BROWN EDGE 
 
CONSTRUCTION AND EXTENSION OF A VEHICULAR ACCESS TRACK 
(ALREADY PARTLY CARRIED OUT); EXCAVATION AND LAND LEVELLING 
WORKS AS PREPARATION FOR THE SITING OF AN ANIMAL HOUSING 
BUILDING (ALREADY PARTLY CARRIED OUT); THE ERECTION OF THE 
ANIMAL HOUSING BUILDING; EXTENSION OF EXISTING BUILDING TO 
PROVIDE ANIMAL HOUSING AND THE ERECTION OF A SLURRY TANK FOR 
MR. D. CLEMENT 
 
(Report recommended Approval) 
 
All Councillors had declared “other” interests. 
 
RECEIVED – Representations from the undermentioned speakers:- 
 
 
 
 
 Page 6



Planning Applications Committee - 15 July 2021 
 

3 
 

Against the application: 
 Mr. Craig Russell - Objector (Letter read by Mrs. Tracy Kirton)  
 Mrs. Linda Brookes - Objector 
 Mrs. Tracy Kirton - Objector 
 
For the application: 
 Mr. Rob Duncan - Applicant’s Agent 
 Mrs. Gill Heath - Supporter 
 
NOTED - 1. Late Representations Report confirming that there was no objection 

from Stoke on Trent City Council Highway Authority; 
 

2. This was a re-submission of the application to address the 
committee’s previously voiced concerns. The building had been rotated 
clockwise, moved to the North and reduced in size; 

 
  3. No objection from the Council’s Environmental Health Section; 
 

4. Clarification by Officer regarding the closest point from the nearest 
house. Previously 45m, now 65m. The Slurry Tank was over 100m. 
Also ridge height now 7.1m; 

 
5. Additional conditions requested by members as follows:- a) Roof to 
be green, b) Landscaping to conceal the shed and tanks, c) ‘setting 
out’ condition for levels and d) installation of a gate on the track, away 
from the road; 
 
6. Additional informatives requested by members as follows:- a) 
installation of solar panels on the roof, b) install Anaerobic Digester 
and / or Hydro Generator, both with economic and Climate Change 
benefits; 
 
7. Enforcement action had been necessary when unauthorised 
excavation work had been carried out in 2020; 
 
8. Members noted the poor relations between the Applicant and some 
neighbours and hoped for an improvement in the future. 

 
 
RESOLVED – That the application be APPROVED for the reasons and based on 
the policies contained in the report, subject to the conditions contained in the report 
and also the additional conditions and informatives referred to above. 
 
FURTHER RESOLVED - In the event of any changes being needed to the wording 
of the Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions / informatives 
/ planning obligations or reasons for approval / refusal), prior to the decision being 
issued the Head of Development Services had delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, provided 
that the changes did not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s decision. 
 
(Proposed by Councillor Davies and seconded by Councillor Emery.) 
 
 
 Page 7



Planning Applications Committee - 15 July 2021 
 

4 
 

The meeting closed at 2.50 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________Chairman ____________________Date 

Page 8



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
12 August 2021 

 

Application 
No: 

SMD/2021/0290 

Location Nab Hill House, Nab Hill Avenue, Leek, ST13 8EF 

Proposal Change of use from a dwellinghouse (Class C3) to a care home 
(Class C2) for up to six young residents. 

Applicant Compass Children’s Homes Ltd 

Agent Tetra Tech Planning 

Parish/ward Leek West Date registered: 26/05/2021 

If you have a question about this report please contact: Benjamin Hurst tel: 
07738506367 benjamin.hurst@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 
REFERRAL 
 
The application is before committee at the request of Cllr Ben Emery - the 
application has generated considerable public interest and members will be able to 
give full consideration to the impact of the development on the living conditions of 
nearby residents.    
 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
 

 
APPROVE, with conditions  
 

  
 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
2.1 The application site is Nab Hill House located off Nab Hill Avenue, Leek. The site 
is located approximately 800 metres to the west of Leek Town Centre. The site 
comprises a three-storey detached dwelling house which benefits from eight 
bedrooms, three en-suites, a bathroom, a separate toilet, a lounge, a kitchen, a 
dining room, a library and a utility room. To the east of the property is a large garden 
area, landscaping and a car parking area. The site is bound by trees and other 
vegetation to the north, east and south and west which provide screening from wider 
views. The property’s western boundary edges the ancient, unmade, way of Kiln 
Lane, where dense trees, hedge row and stone wall enclose and screen the property 
from view.   
 
2.2 Nab Hill House is at the western end of a private drive that is shared with the 
adjacent courtyard development of Nab Hill Court to the east, which provides five 
detached homes. From the east, the private drive terminates at an area of driveway 
hard surface that provides parking and turning for numerous vehicles.   The private 
drive adjoins the public highway where Nab Hill Avenue meets Hillswood Avenue, 
and both roads provide a loop or a circuit from Bellevue Road to the east. Both 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6

mailto:benjamin.hurst@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


Avenues are tree lined with wide grassy verges, they are fronted each side by 
closely spaced semi-detached properties. Most of the dwellings have off road 
parking provision, but the road is narrow to the effect that it limits roadside parking 
with the result that many park on the wide pavements and verges.  
 

3. THE APPLICATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 The proposal is to use the existing dwelling (Class C3) to provide a residential 
care home (Class C2) for up to six young persons (aged 7-17 years). No external 
works would be carried out to the property or within its curtilage. Internal 
rearrangement of space, which does not require planning permission, would involve 
some minor partitioning to provide a ground floor office space by taking from a large 
kitchen/breakfast room; dividing the master bedroom into bedroom 3 and 4; dividing 
a large first floor bathroom into two; turning the ensuites at the master bedroom and 
bedroom 1 into shared bathrooms; introducing an ensuite to bedroom 7 on the 
second floor; and, taking from bedroom 5 on the second floor to provide one hallway 
access to the stair case. The resultant layout would provide at ground floor a staff 
office, two living rooms, a dining room, utility room, WC, and kitchen; and, at first and 
second floors six resident bedrooms with shared access to 5 bathrooms, and two 
staff bedrooms, each with an ensuite.    
 
3.2 A team of staff would provide substitute parenting for young people who may 
require a range of support and therapies to support the residents as they develop 
independence and social skills. Residents would be in full time education, educated 
daily, off site, at one of the applicant’s schools. The home would be registered with 
OFSTED for up to six young people with a dedicated manager. Two members of 
care staff would be on site at all times, rotating on a shift pattern with private 
bedroom facility available for night shifts. Additional staff would visit and attend 
during the day to assist with cooking, school transport, and cleaning. A submitted 
site plan shows how up to eight cars might park on the existing driveway hard 
surface.  
 
3.3 The applicant has over 20 other care homes and has a number of Outstanding 
and Good OFSTED ratings. They offer the following statement: 
 
Typically, children will have experienced poor quality or no effective parenting or 
home life, possibly neglect or abuse and have been starved of love and care. The 
‘challenges’ associated with this are generally related to their belief that, despite the 
actions of others, they consider it to be their fault, and as a result have low self-
esteem and low self-image. A core objective of the service will be to give the children 
opportunities to learn to value themselves as members of a home and in society. 
The child-centred focus allows for tailoring the programme to the young person’s 
individual needs. This home will cater for children who have suffered at the hands of 
others, sometimes their parents, and as a consequence are both vulnerable and, 
without help and care, unable to enjoy life in the way that others of their age, in more 
supportive family environments take for granted. If it is felt that a child is able to 
manage free time appropriately then they are allowed to have this. This will be done 
on an individual basis and based on the child demonstrating they are able to manage 
such time, and to respect the requirements of polite society. 
 

Page 10



3.4 The applicant did not seek any pre application advice from the Council regarding 
the application. Details of the application scheme can be viewed at:  
 
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?
PKID=128617 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
 
SMD/2008/0552 Erection of 3 Storey Dwelling within grounds of Nab Hill House. 
Approved but not implemented.  
 
 

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 
5.1  The Development Plan comprises of: 

 The Local Plan Development Document (adopted Sep 2020) 
 
Adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan - Sep 2020 
 
5.2  The following Local Plan policies are relevant to the application:- 
 

 SS1 Development Principles 
 SS5 Leek Area Strategy 
 H1   New Housing Development 
 DC1 Design Considerations  
 SD4 Pollution 
 T1 Sustainable Transport 

 
Staffordshire Moorlands Design Guide 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 
5.3  Paragraph 92 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that planning 
decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which promote 
social interaction, including opportunities for meetings between people who might not 
otherwise come into contact with each other, and should enable and support healthy 
lifestyles, especially where it would address identified local health and well-being 
needs. Paragraph 93 adds that to provide the services that the community needs, 
planning decisions should take into account and support the delivery of local 
strategies to improve health, social and cultural well-being for all sections of the 
community. 
 

6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
A site notice was posted and displayed on a lamp post close to the access with Nab 
Hill Avenue on the 23rd June 2021, a 21 day of consultation expired on the 14th July. 
Additionally, 12 near neighbours were notified in writing with a letter dated the 6th 
June 2021. 
 

Page 11

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=128617
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=128617


 
 
 
Public response to consultation 
 
6.1 35 objections have been received from neighbours in the locality. All of the 
comments made have been summarised below: 
 

 As a neighbour that has a boundary with the property we are concerned about 
security at the boundary, intruders can pass through the hedge, and more 
residents putting a strain on the mains sewer that runs through our garden.  

 

 Concerned that the property could be occupied by 6 teenage children who 
might have behavioural issues and that this would affect living conditions 
within our gardens, homes and shared access drives where children play. If 
there is not enough staff to supervise the children, or the staff are unskilled 
and low paid, this could lead to a lack of control and unsociable, unpredictable 
behaviour in close proximity to neighbours (possibly theft, violence, and litter), 
this is believed to be a problem at a similar home to the east of town. This is a 
quiet residential area and some of the nearby residents are elderly and 
particularly vulnerable.  

 

 Pedestrian routes to and from school, places of work and leisure walks. 
 

 Concerned about increased vehicle movements to and from the  property via 
the drive, which passes close to neighbour’s windows, causing noise and air 
pollution.  

 

 Adversely affect property prices in the area 
 

 Young people would be located in proximity to off licenses and takeaways 
 

 Lack of facilities in Leek for youngsters 
 

 Parking provision for 8 cars seems excessive and there will be deliveries 
made by large vehicles. The street and entrance is narrow and unlit, there 
would be increased traffic at all hours and this could cause traffic congestion, 
issues for existing residents, and a highway danger particularly to 
pedestrians.   

 

 The site does not currently have room to provide 8 parking spaces and some 
earth works would need to be carried out, which could cause land drainage 
issues.  

 

 The property would become a business premises in a residential area that 
employs staff and require commercial deliveries. The applicant company is 
not a charity but part of a large commercial enterprise, which employs 
considerable numbers and turns significant revenue. No objection to fostering 
within the community which, in comparison works on a small scale, but the 
scale and scope of the proposed use would be well beyond that which can be 

Page 12



easily absorbed within a residential area, only for a business to generate more 
profit. 

 

 Four appeal decisions, all predating 12th Aug 2016, have been provided as 
examples of Planning Inspectors refusing to grant lawful development 
certificates for children’s care homes and finding that a material change of use 
would occur that requires planning permission. 

 

 The development would result in the loss of a unique 8 bedroom property in 
Leek that could otherwise be used by a consolidated multi-generational family 
household.  Vacant pub sites could be used instead.  

 

 A minibus can’t turn at the property, large vehicles attending Nab Hill House 
must turn around in Nab Hill Court and reverse down the narrow driveway. 

 

 With consideration of activity at other care homes, some which have no more 
than 4 children, there are likely to be visits from staff, local authorities, 
catering, laundry and health workers requiring parking for 6 to 8 cars at a 
minimum. The driveway was not constructed for such frequent traffic, which 
may require it to be sealed. This will affect drainage to the properties below. 

 

 Would the residents be unaccompanied when they access facilities and 
services within walking distance or the bus service? 

 

 The only access is via a common driveway with Nab Hill Court. There are 
questions about the right of access and maintenance of the common 
driveway. Speed bumps in the common driveway will cause aligned 
neighbours considerably more nuisance.  

 

 If the children are not from the local area the Staffordshire Moorlands 
community would not benefit. 

 
Leek Town Council 
 
6.2 No objection. “Not unneighbourly”.  
 
SCC Highway Authority 
 
6.3 No objection. The application is to convert an existing 8 bedroomed dwelling 
into a care home for 6 children/young persons. Nab Hill House is a large residence in 
an existing residential area. Nab Hill Avenue is relatively narrow with verges that are 
generally used for parking. Some have been surfaced to facilitate parking. No 
alterations or extensions are proposed to Nab Hill House. It could equally be used by 
a large or extended family under its current planning use. The dwelling, its access 
and Nab Hill Avenue are existing. Access cannot be described as unsafe or 
unreasonable. There are no recorded personal injury collisions on Nab Hill Avenue in 
the last five years. Trip generation profile may be different for a care home when 
compared to a dwelling, with adults/staff visiting the home rather than leaving it. 
However, that does not equate to an increase in trips that could be considered 
severe. Children/young persons would need to be transported whether part of a 

Page 13



family or residents of a care home. Visitors are likely, as they would be for a family 
home. Regardless of the trip profile, the effect of reuse of an existing large dwelling 
as a residential care home could not be described as having a severe effect on the 
highway.  
 
 
Environmental Health 
 
6.4 No objection subject to conditions relevant to the control of artificial lighting 
and delivery times. The proposed use does not appear significant but the range of 
residential uses within the C2 use class can vary. In the case of this application for 
development into a care home for young children the risks to neighbour amenity are 
low. But if future occupancy of the home was for people with more high intensive 
clinical needs then noise breakout could be a risk. It would be recommended that 
noise breakout is considered during the development phase in order to future proof 
the site and ensure good neighbour relations. Noise transfer from room to room 
should also be given consideration in order to maintain good amenity for other 
occupiers of the home.  

Severn Trent Water 
 
6.5 No objection. There would be minimal impact on the public sewerage system. 
 
 
Staffordshire Police 
 
6.6 A tremendous amount of its success in addressing the needs of the children and 
avoiding impact upon the locality will depend upon: 

 the experience, professionalism and care of the staff;  

 suitable staffing levels and effective management oversight;  

 the placement of appropriately risk-assessed children with suitable individual care 
plans in place; 

 the nature of the children housed and the extent to which they get on with each 
other/are not a bad influence upon one another;  

 well-conceived and enforced rule setting, and expectations placed upon resident 
children; 

 all backed up by robust and effective staff policies (including in-house conflict 
resolution), practices and operating procedures.  

 

6.7 The residential care home would need to be registered with Ofsted, who are the 
appropriate regulatory authority and subsequently regulated by them with all the 
necessary checks and balances in place that they require to ensure the efficient 
running and management of the home for the benefit of those children who would be 
placed there. It is noted that this home would be for up to 6 children, which is more 
than many typical children’s care homes. While there will be no automatic direct 
correlation between the number of children housed and any challenges faced, it may 
be reasoned that in general, the greater number of children, the greater the number 
of variables that may come into play and need to be suitably managed.  
 

Page 14



6.8 The view of the Staffordshire Police Neighbourhood Policing Team has been 
sought and can be summarised as follows: 
 

 Of note, this would be the 39th children’s care home on the Moorlands. While the 
majority don’t cause any concern for the Police, a number can be quite time 
consuming due to associated incidents.  

 

 One issue is children who on occasion, for a variety of reasons, go missing from 
such homes. This can be a safeguarding concern and potentially exposes them to 
heightened risk. This can also place a demand upon limited police resources 
where searches are required to be undertaken. There are extensive transport links 
nearby which could enable absconding children to leave the immediate area 
travelling into Stoke-on-Trent or further afield including to other counties. The 
track to Rudyard is very close by and there are other large open spaces too to 
cover should an extensive area search be required. 

 

 There are a number of local schools nearby. In the light of this, it would be the 
expectation that children placed at the home would be suitably risk assessed in 
terms of child sexual exploitation to safeguard local children.    

 

6.9 Ensuring that boundary treatments are made suitably robust to reduce any 
undue negative impact upon adjoining neighbouring properties and the ease with 
which children could abscond and disappear quickly would be advisable. Regarding 
the latter, this would be particularly relevant for the Kiln Lane boundary and green 
space to the south.  
 
6.10 Consideration should also be given to the use of CCTV surveillance cameras at 
the location, which could be a useful aid to help oversee the management of the site, 
safeguard the children living there, discourage unwanted outside interaction with the 
location, and can assist should any children go missing with timing, direction of 
travel, clothes worn etc. Should this application meet with Local Authority approval, it 
would be ideal if the requirement for a CCTV camera system could be conditioned. 
 
6.11 The applicant’s attention is brought to the Surveillance Camera Commissioner 
Buyers Toolkit - an excellent guidance document that should help inform decision 
making when it comes to considering the installation of a CCTV surveillance system. 
It is a comprehensive easy-to-follow guide for non-experts thinking about buying a 
CCTV surveillance camera system and want to ensure they avoid common mistakes 
and buy an effective system that does what they want it to do. It discusses the 
importance of having an Operational Requirement from the outset and it is full of 
advice and tips on how to get the best out of any prospective supplier. It also covers 
relevant standards and certification, and current legislation. 
 

7. OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE 
 

Introduction 
 
7.1 Located within a residential part of the area’s largest town settlement, the 
development would be within proximity of shops, services, facilities and public 
transport connections. Here the development plan spatial strategy is to strengthen 

Page 15



the town’s role as a service centre and provide for the majority of the District’s 
housing supply, the development would be largely compatible with that, and the main 
issues for consideration therefore, relate to impacts on the living conditions of nearby 
residential neighbours and highway safety.  
 
7.2 As an existing dwellinghouse, the scope of the relevant use class (Class C3) and 
the changes that are permitted are quite broad. Obviously, the large 8 bed property 
could be used by a family of unrestricted number, but also it could be used, without 
planning permission, by up to six unrelated adults that receive care and live together 
as a household; or, with a change of use that is permitted by the General Permitted 
Development Order, as a house in multiple occupation by six unrelated individuals 
(Class C4). However, where the residents would be children, the matter is 
complicated because the courts have found that children, as a group of residents, 
with rotating non- resident staff, are not able to from a ‘household’, a necessity of 
being included within the C3 use class. An appreciation for that context, perhaps 
provides a useful baseline and starting point when it comes to considering the 
potential impact of a development such as the one proposed. Indeed, sometimes the 
authority is asked, by application, to consider whether similar changes of use are 
material and require planning permission at all. Such a question is a matter of fact 
and degree to be addressed on a case by case basis, there are examples across the 
country where decision makers have found that children’s care home proposals 
would result in material change and where they have found that they would not.   
 
7.3 In this case however, the applicant does not argue that the change would be 
lawful and not material, they concede that there would be development, and instead, 
for the avoidance of doubt, seeks an express planning permission.      
 

General Principles for Development and Spatial Strategy Approach  
 

7.4 One of the fundamental principles that underpin the adopted Local Plan, 
provided at Policy S1, is that development shall contribute positively to the social and 
economic development of the area by, in part,  delivering quality services for 
healthcare and community. The site’s location is within a ‘significant service centre’- 
the town settlement boundary of Leek, the largest settlement in the district.  It is part 
of the Local Plan’s ‘area strategy’ for Leek, Policy SS5, to enhance its role as a 
service centre by improving the range of housing availability, and facilities for health 
and community.  
 
7.5 The provision of a residential facility within an established area of housing to 
support those in the community who need care and may have particular 
vulnerabilities, would align with and help deliver on those local plan strategy 
commitments.     
 
Impact on the character and appearance of the area 
 
7.6 The application does not propose any external alterations and the dwelling 
would not be enlarged. There are no proposals to alter or improve an existing area of 
driveway hard surface.  There would be no changes to the size or appearance of the 
property.   
 

Page 16



Impact on Highway Safety 
 
7.7 The existing dwelling has an area of hard surface at the end of a long 115 metre 
private drive that has access with Nab Hill Avenue to the east. Approximately 55m to 
the west of Nab Hill Avenue, before arriving at the application curtilage, the drive 
provides, with a bound surface, access to the five detached dwellings on the cul de 
sac at Nab Hill Court, beyond that the drive is of compacted stone surface.  The 
drive is narrow, single carriageway, but dead straight. Vehicles using the drive in 
either direction, have a good line of sight toward any vehicle exiting the application 
site, turning in or out of Nab Hill Court, or entering the drive from the Nab Hill Avenue 
access. There is ample time to react and avoid a collision or awkward passing 
interaction.  
 
7.8 The drive from Nab Hill Court to the property and the hard surface at the end of 
the drive, is of a compacted stone or gravel surface. There is no proposal to extend, 
alter, improve or resurface these areas, and there is no obvious requirement to do 
so. The existing hard surface could, on inspection, provide parking and turning for up 
to eight vehicles with some turning space, in the way that the applicant has indicated 
on the site plan. This arrangement might, at full capacity, be somewhat tight, but it 
would be unlikely that this many vehicles would need to visit and be parked at the 
property at any one time, and the prevailing point is that there is ample room to 
provide the five spaces (1 per 3 bed spaces, 1 for each of the two on site staff, 1 for 
visiting support staff) plus ambulance space, that would be compliant with the 
suggested Local Plan parking guidance for a C2 facility. While the development 
would not be a medical facility, and there is no specific reason for ambulances to 
visit, generally there should be space for an ambulance, minibus, people carrier, or 
most other vehicles to turn, clear of the public highway, without relying on the Nab 
Hill Court turning.        
 
7.9 The property would not provide any medical, nursing or education function. It 
would not, during the normal use of the property be visited by doctors, nurses, or 
other medical or educational support. However, clearly the development would be 
dependent on certain traffic movements - the two on site staff arriving and leaving, 
with turnover at the beginning or end of the shift; transport to take the children to and 
from school or any social or recreational visit, which may very well involve a minibus 
or form of people carrier; any support staff to cook or clean; visits from family or 
friends; and of course, various deliveries. There is every opportunity for all of this 
traffic to enter and leave the site in a forward gear, and the access with the public 
highway has good visibility in both directions, with a line of sight along Nab Hill 
Avenue. The Avenue has wide verges and footpaths to keep pedestrians away from 
the carriageway and where it is necessary to cross, the road is straight and narrow 
with visibility in both directions.  It is lined with smaller semi-detached dwellings, 
most with off road driveway parking.  
 
7.10 By comparison, the existing lawful use of the large 8 bed dwelling has a 
potential to already generate considerable traffic movements - a family household of 
different generations could have adult children, all making visits by car to places of 
work or education. Any household will have shopping deliveries, visits from 
contractors and family and friends. Moreover, if used as a house of multiple 
occupation or household of six, where care could be provided, each individual is 

Page 17



likely to have their own visitors and there could be care staff making multiple daily 
visits.  The proposed, use therefore would not obviously generate any more traffic 
than any of those uses that are already permitted and lawful.   
 
7.11 Overall the development should not be the cause of any discernible impact on 
the road network or safety of the highway, beyond that which is posed by any other 
vehicle that must negotiate the highway to access and service the existing dwellings 
within this established residential area. There would be no conflict with policies DC1 
or T1 in these regards.  
 
Impact on Residential Amenity   
 
7.12 The proposal has been advertised as a very broad change of use to a 
residential care home for up to six residents (Class C2). Much of the public objection 
and concern perhaps results from a degree of uncertainty and fear in respect of this. 
Submitted statements clarify that the residents would be minors (aged 7-17 years 
old). The applicant explains that typically children will have experienced poor quality 
or no effective parenting or home life, possibly neglect or abuse and as a 
consequence they are generally vulnerable and, require help and care to enjoy life in 
the way that others of their age, in conventional family environments take for 
granted. If a child is able to manage free time appropriately then they would be 
allowed to do so on an individual basis subject to their age and ability to manage 
such time and respect the requirements of polite society. When children stay in the 
house they would be under the supervision of their adult carers, interacting with them 
in a way similar to that of a parent or guardian, and partake in after school activities 
such as arts and crafts, cookery etc.  and they would attend school during the 
daytime.  
 
7.13 This provides a good explanation and helps with a general understanding of 
how the home would operate and the services it would provide. Beyond that, an 
attempt to tie the use to further detail or specifics would, it seems, be at the expense 
of the applicant’s reasonable flexibility. It is clear however, that the development 
would not provide an educational, medical or secured institution and that the 
residents would not be criminal offenders, educated on site or in need of any specific 
medical care. It is possible to limit any permission to the use proposed and to 
exclude any other use that might be permitted under the C2 use class.   
 
7.14 The property has large areas of secluded garden available for recreation and 
exercise within the grounds. The boundary enclosures are mainly trees, bushes and 
shrubbery, the property would not be a secure facility and there is no proposal to 
secure the boundary with fences, walls or gates, indeed that would not be a practical 
proposition due to the extent of the perimeter and undulating terrain. However, there 
should be enough useable attractive space within the grounds of the property to 
provide for the amenity of residents to be enjoyed clear from neighbouring properties 
and without it being necessary to leave the grounds without specific purpose.  
 
7.15 The access arrangement provide a shared single carriageway drive adjoining 
Nab Hill Avenue to the east of the property. The southern edge of the drive is lined 
by a thick band of shrubbery, the other side of which lies the rear garden boundaries 
to the dwellings on North Street. The rear of the dwellings are around 15 – 20m from 

Page 18



the edge of the drive, the dwellings and their gardens do not have immediate 
proximity to the driveway and there is shrubbery between. The northern edge of the 
drive passes 4.5m from the side elevation of 1 Nabhill Court, the other side of a 
boundary hedgerow and shrubbery. Some of the objection expresses concern about 
the impact that traffic movements along the drive will have on the living conditions of 
these residents. However, again we must consider pre-existing arrangements and 
those uses that might be already lawful. The drive provides service to a large eight 
bedroom dwelling house, and this already has the potential to generate comparable 
movements.   
 
7.16 It is clear that much of the public objection results from a perception and fear 
over the potential for crime and anti-social behaviour to affect the living conditions of 
nearby residents. The NPPF states “Planning policies and decisions should ensure 
that developments create places that are safe … and where crime and disorder, and 
the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and 
resilience……Designing out crime and designing in community safety should be 
central to the planning and delivery of new development”. The best available 
evidence to assist with the consideration of this matter, is provided in the comments 
from the Police Crime Prevention Officer and the Council’s Environmental Health 
Officer.    
 
7.17 The Staffordshire Police Neighbourhood Policing Team note that the proposal 
would provide the 39th children’s care home in the District and the majority do not 
cause any concern for the police. The Environmental Health Officer observes that 
while class C2 is a broad use class that could cover a range of different institutional 
uses and impacts, a use limited to that of a care home for children would be of a low 
risk to neighbour amenity.  The policing team explain that a particular issue that can 
consume police time is when children, for a variety of reasons, go missing from the 
homes. They advise that a successful home, that addresses the needs of the 
residents and avoids detriment to neighbours depends upon - suitable numbers of 
experienced professional staff, appropriate risk assessments and care plans, well-
conceived rule setting, and effective staff policy and operating procedures.  The 
policing team confirm that the care home would need to be registered and regulated 
by OFSTED, and they also suggest that a scheme of camera surveillance could 
assist with the safeguarding of residents by discouraging unwanted interaction with, 
or approach from, unwelcome visitors and the effectiveness and speed of response, 
if a resident is missing.       
 
7.18 The applicant is receptive and alert to these comments, in statements they 
explain that they have more than 20 existing children’s homes around England, so 
are vastly experienced in providing such services, they have excellent teams of staff 
who provide substitute parenting for young people who require a range of support. 
They pride themselves on the high-quality of their homes, as well as the high-quality 
support, care and education they provide. The applicant has also expressed 
willingness and agreement to engage with the authority and offer an appropriate 
scheme to provide camera surveillance outlined by the policing team.  
 
7.19 The property would remain as a large 8 bedroom dwellinghouse in a type of 
residential use that is compatible with the residential area, and in many respects the 
character and impact of the land use would be similar to that of any other large open 

Page 19



market dwellinghouse. Afterall, by way of a reminder, within the C3 use class the 
property could be used by a family of unrestricted number or six unrelated adults 
living as a household. When children stay in the house they would be under the 
supervision of their adult carers, interacting with them in a way similar to that of a 
parent or guardian, and partake in after school activities such as arts and crafts, 
cookery etc. They would attend school during the daytime. The comings and goings 
associated with the premises will not be dissimilar to those associated with a 
dwellinghouse, and the use of the premises for such purposes should not materially 
detract from the amenity of neighbouring residential occupiers to any unreasonable 
degree. The proposed development is therefore consistent with the requirements of 
policy DC1 of the Local Plan in this regard. The proposed change of use is not 
deemed to be development that would ‘result in noise pollution’ relevant to Policy 
SD4 of the Local Plan. 
 
Other Considerations 
 
7.20 Some of the objectors are concerned about their house prices and maintenance 
or improvement works that might need to be carried out to the shared private drive. 
These are civil matters between private landowners who have rights over the drive 
and shared maintenance responsibility, they are not considerations that are material 
to the planning balance. House prices can be affected by a variety of reasons 
outside the control of the planning system, and this would not be a factor that would 
outweigh compliance with the development plan. There are no driveway alterations 
or improvements proposed with this application and no obvious reason that they 
should become necessary.    
 
Planning Balance & Conclusions 
 
7.21 The change of use would result in only limited changes to the character of the 
land use and would bring some community benefit by providing facility and support 
for some of the area’s most vulnerable residents. There would be no adverse 
impacts to the character and appearance of the area, highway safety or the amenity 
of residents.  There would be no conflict with the Local Plan.    
 
 

8. RECOMMENDATION 
 
A. That planning permission be APPROVED for the change of use from a 
dwellinghouse (Class C3) to a care home for children of up to six residents 
(Class C2), subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason:- To comply with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(As Amended) 
 
2. The change of use permitted and described above shall only be carried out at 
the property identified and shown on the Promap 'site location plan', ‘Site Plan' 
numbered 21989 01C, ‘Existing & Propd floor plans’ numbered 21989 02, and the 
‘Existing Elevations’ drawings numbered 21989 03A that were submitted with the 

Page 20



application. The property layout and arrangement of interior room space shall remain 
and be used as shown in ‘Existing & Propd floor plans’ numbered 21989 02. 
 
Reason:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning, in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
3. When the property ceases to be used  for the permitted purpose described 
above it shall be made available for reuse and a return to its former use as a single 
dwellinghouse (Class C3). The use may return to that former dwellinghouse use 
without the need for a further express grant of planning permission. 
 
Reason:- So that it would not be necessary to gain express plannig permission to 
return the use of the property to a Class C3 dwellinghouse. 
 
4. This permission is to only use the property for the purposes of providing full 
time  residential care for no more than six residents (aged 7-17yrs), who would 
occupy the property as their sole or main residence, and their care and supervision is 
provided full time by care staff on a shift rotation; and for no other purpose, including 
any other purpose in Class C2; of the Use Classes Order. 
 
Reason:- In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority the premises for other uses 
within the same Use Class could cause harm to the amenities of the area. 
 
5. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order 
with or without modification), no development as specified in Part 1 Class(es) A, AA, 
B, C, D and E or Part 20 shall be carried out without express planning permission first 
being obtained from the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason:- For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the capacity and funcion of 
the property is not enlarged without planning permission. 
 
6. Before the use permitted commences, a camera system for the monitoring and 
recording of activity at particular access points along the boundary shall be installed 
and operated in accordance with a scheme and details that have first been submitted 
to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The system shall thereafter be 
operated as agreed, retained and maintained throughout the life of the development.  
 
Reason:- To assist with and support the safeguarding of the residents. 
 
 

 
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/in formatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Principal Planning Officer has delegated authority to do so in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, provided that the 
changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the Committee’s Decision. 
 
  
 
 
 

Page 21



 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 22



 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 
 

12 August 2021 
 

 

Application 
No: 

SMD/2021/0210 

Location Greywoods, Cheddleton Road, Leek 

Proposal Outline Application with some matters reserved (except for Access) 
for Change of Use of part garden area to one number residential 
building plot with new access onto Cheddleton Road 

Applicant Mr John Cowburn 

Agent Mr Robert McGuinness 

Parish/ward Leek Date registered: 25th March 2021 

If you have a question about this report please contact: Jane Curley   
email:  jane.curley@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

 
REFERRAL 
This application is before committee because the previous refusal was a decision of 
the Planning Applications Committee  
 
1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
 

 
APPROVE with conditions 
 

  
 
2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
2.1 This site consists of the dwelling known as Greywoods, an arts and crafts style 
detached house and its grounds. It is within the residential area of Birchall and the 
development boundary of Leek.  Greywoods fronts Cheddleton Road to the west and 
has large garden areas to the rear (east) and side (south) of the house. Beyond the 
site boundary to the north is an access serving several properties.  Birchall Lane 
runs along the south side boundary of the site and from here there is vehicular 
access to a large, detached garage belonging to Greywoods. The garden to the rear 
(east) is ‘terraced’ having a raised lawn area and beyond this a further raised 
vegetable garden separated from the lawn by a laurel hedge. The Birchall area 
comprises a mix of designs/styles. A Provisional Tree Preservation Order has 
recently been made in respect of the group of trees on the corner of Cheddleton 
Road and Birchall Lane and those on the northern boundary of the site   
 
2.2 The application form and Design and Access Statement refer to the proposal 
being for a 4 bedroom two storey property. 
   
 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



3. THE APPLICATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 This is an outline application for a single dwelling within the grounds of 
Greywoods. Approval of access is also sought at this stage. Two access points are 
proposed; the existing access off Birchall Lane which currently serves the garage to 
Greywoods and a new access to the north of Greywoods on Cheddleton Road.  
 
3.2 Layout is a reserved matter. However, a plan is provided which shows 
indicatively how a new dwelling could be positioned on the site to the east of 
Greywoods. It is shown aligned in a similar manner to Croxteth with its principle 
elevation fronting Birchall Lane. The plan shows that this new dwelling would make 
use of the existing access off Birchall Lane to provide a parking/turning area. The 
existing garage building would be demolished. The plan also shows how the new 
access directly from Cheddleton Road could serve Greywoods with a parking/turning 
area and new garage.  
 
3.3 This application seeks to address the reason for refusal of a previous application 
which was for two new dwellings within the grounds. The refusal notice reads as 
follows:-  
 
The proposed development, by virtue of the subdivision of the site to provide two 
additional dwellings and the lack of information regarding the several trees on site 
which contribute positively to the character and appearance of the area, would result 
in an overdevelopment of the site which would lead to harm to the character and 
appearance of the area and also harm the residential amenities of adjacent 
residential properties. The proposal would therefore be contrary to policies H1, DC1 
and DC3 of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (adopted September 2020) 
which aim to protect visual and residential amenity and also Section 12 'Achieving 
Well Designed Places' of the government's National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). 
 
3.4 The application is supported by a Design and Access Statement and unlike the 
previous application a Tree schedule and Tree constraints plan. 
 
AMENDMENTS  
 
3.5 During the processing of the application an amended plan was received which re 
positioned the proposed dwelling on the plot, Drawings 1003/2 Rev A and  1003/4 
Revision H. A full re consultation was carried out.   
 
The applicant has confirmed that approval of Layout is not sought at this stage.  
 
 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
Greywoods 
SMD/2020/0645  - Outline Application for two residential building plots with 
new/existing accesses onto Cheddleton Road and Birchall Lane. Refused 
 
Croxteth 

Page 26



2001 – 0577    Two storey side extension, rear conservatory and attached single 
storey garage at the front of the property.  Approved 
 
The approved plans show the conservatory at the rear and that the side elevation of 
the two storey extension contains no windows.  The plans show that on the rear 
elevation the windows closest to the boundary with Greywoods are to an ensuite at 
first floor and a secondary lounge window at ground floor level  
 

 
 
 
2007-0383   Part single/part two storey front extension. Approved. 

 
 

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 
Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (Adopted Sept 2020)  
 
5.1 The Development Plan comprises the Local Plan Development Document 
(adopted September 2020). 
 
5.2  The following Local Plan policies are relevant to the application: 

 SS1   Development Principles 

 SS2   Settlement Hierarchy 

 SS5    Leek Area Strategy 

 H1       New Housing 

 DC1   Design Considerations 

 T1   Development and Sustainable Transport 

 NE1    Biodiversity 

 NE2   Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows 

Page 27



 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) Revised (2019) 
 
5.3  The following sections of the NPPF (2019) are particularly relevant to this 
application: 

 2: Achieving sustainable development 

 4: Decision making 

 5: Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes 

 12: Achieving well-designed places 

 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 

Neighbour letters Expired 

Site Notice Posted Expired 

Press Notice N/A 

 
Public response to consultation 
 
6.1  Objections (17) 

 Overdevelopment of the site 

 The proposal would not be in accordance with the building line 

 The applicants state difficulty in understanding the previous refusal but did not 

appeal it 

 The addition will cause harm to the setting and character of Greywoods 

 Housing need is already being met 

 Would remove the dual aspect of Greywoods which is important to its 

character 

 Errors in the planning statement 

 The prominent siting of the proposed dwelling would dominate the streetscene 

 A planting scheme is not provided 

 The design does not contribute to local distinctiveness 

 Insufficient parking space 

 Would increase traffic on a difficult junction 

 Overlooking of nearby dwellings 

 Light pollution from an additional house in close proximity in an area without 

street lights 

 Greywoods has a positive effect on the entrance to Leek 

 Greywoods is of historic interest 

 Loss of hedge and destruction of vegetation and habitats would need 

mitigation 

 Highways safety cannot be guaranteed as information on Greywoods is not 

submitted 

 Loss of light to neighbouring property 

 Construction vehicles have already caused serious damage to the road 

Page 28



 This will set a precedent for developing gardens 

 Siting suggests a second house will follow 

 The positioning of the bungalow will present a side view to the street 

 Proposal constitutes progressive change to the area  

   
Leek Town Council  
Recommend refusal – The application does not address all the issues when it was 
last refused. Overbearing, loss of privacy and is not in keeping  with the street scene 
and local vernacular. 
 
SCC Highway Authority 
No objection subject to conditions.   
 
SMDC Environmental Health 
No objection subject to a Construction and Environmental Method Statement and 
precautionary contamination conditions.  
 
SMDC Waste Collection Services 
No issues regarding waste. 
 
Severn Trent Water 
No drainage conditions required.  
 
 
7. OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE 
 
7.1 The main issues relate to:  
 

 The principle of the development in this location. 

 Access 

 Impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area. 

 Impact on residential amenity. 
 
 

Principle of the development 
7.2 The site is within the development boundary of Leek.  Policy SS 5 of the adopted 
Local plan sets out the strategy for Leek. It confirms that the consolidation of Leek as 
the principal service centre will be achieved in part by continuing to meet the housing 
needs of Leek by supporting the development of new housing in sustainable sites 
within the development boundary. This site is in a sustainable location within the 
development boundary.  The principle of development is therefore acceptable. 
 
Access 
7.3 Approval of access is sought at this stage. No objection to access was raised in 
the Decision Notice for the previous application, SMD/2020/0645, although an 
informative was added, at the request of the Planning Committee, advising the 
applicant about inadequate levels of off road car parking and the impact on highway 
safety. The matter of off road parking is considered further below. The plans show 
that the new dwelling would continue to use the existing access off Birchall Lane. 

Page 29



There is no objection to this. The plans show a new access from Cheddleton Road to 
serve the existing property, Greywoods in the same position as the previous 
application.  In raising no objection to this the Local Highway Authority comment that 
a) the access provides adequate visibility b) although Cheddleton Road is a well-
used road, the indicative Layout shows adequate space for vehicles to park and turn 
within the site and c) there have been no Personal Injury Collisions on Cheddleton 
Road within 120 m either side of the proposed access in the previous five years.  
 
7.4 In terms of the Councils adopted parking guidance (Appendix 2 of the Local 
plan), for dwellings of 4 or more bedrooms as in the case here, three spaces within 
the curtilage would be expected. There is ample room to accommodate these for 
both the new and existing dwelling, confirmed by the LHA in their response.  
 
7.5 As a matter to note at reserved matters, the LHA say that to be counted towards 
parking provision, any garage must have minimum internal dimensions of 6m long x 
3m wide per vehicle. The double garage to Greywoods shown in layout would need 
to be 6m long x 6m wide internally. The garage would therefore be slightly larger 
than that shown on the plan.  
 
7.6 No objection was raised previously on access grounds. There is no evidence to 
suggest that a different view should now be taken. The LHA are satisfied with the 
proposed access points, subject to conditions. With these in place the proposal is in 
accordance with relevant parts of Policy DC1 and T1. The separate matter of any 
potential impact on the character and appearance of the area arising from the 
access points is considered below.  
 
Impact on the character and appearance of the area 
7.7 In order to address the previous reason for refusal, the applicant now proposes a 
single new dwelling on the site whereas previously it was two. A Tree Constraints 
plan and Tree schedule are also submitted this time. As noted above a provisional 
TPO is now in place. The Trees and Woodland Officers comments are awaited and 
will reported on the Late representations report.  
 
7.8 The applicant has sought to show how a dwelling can be accommodated on the 
site. The illustrative plan submitted with the application originally positioned the new 
dwelling to the south of Greywoods with its principle elevation facing onto 
Cheddleton Road and side elevation to Birchall Lane. However, this was not 
acceptable due to the adverse impact on the amenity of Greywoods (it has principal 
windows within the side/south elevation) and the potential loss of trees and mature 
vegetation on the corner of Cheddleton Road and Birchall Lane, now subject to a 
provisional TPO.  
 
7.9 A revised plan was provided showing the new dwelling positioned indicatively 
adjacent to Croxteth with its main elevation fronting Birchall Lane, Drawing 1003/4 
Revision H. 
 
It is considered that there are a number of improvements to this proposal as follows:- 
 

a) As shown indicatively a single dwelling can be positioned so that the existing 
mature trees and vegetation at the corner of Cheddleton Road and Birchall 

Page 30



Lane, now protected under a provisional TPO are unaffected and can be 
retained. This mature landscaping contributes positively to the character and 
appearance of the area 

b) Siting the dwelling adjacent to Croxteth rather than to the side of Greywoods 
retains the sense of spaciousness at the entrance to Birchall Lane which also 
contributes positively to the character and appearance of the area noting that 
it is mirrored on the opposite side of Birchall Lane   

c) The plans show that there is no longer a need to puncture a new access 
through the hedge on Birchall Lane to serve a second dwelling. The Birchall 
Lane frontage therefore remains intact and undisturbed as the new dwelling 
would make use of the existing access. 

d) The indicative sections show the level change across the site with levels 
falling westwards towards Greywoods. In the street scene therefore, the new 
dwelling would appropriately step down from Croxteth.  

e) A dwelling can be accommodated with space on either side commensurate 
with that seen on other houses on the opposite side of Birchall Lane. It is also 
set back within the plot.  In this respect the adjacent dwelling Croxteth in fact 
breaks the pattern of development as it has been extended up to the side 
boundary and close to the  front boundary (Birchall Lane) 

 
7.10 The conclusion is that a dwelling in the position indicated would generally follow 
the pattern of development in the immediate vicinity which is one of dwellings set 
back from but fronting the road with space either side. In terms of plot size and width 
it would not be dissimilar to, for example Croxteth, The Croft or Ash Green   There is 
no uniform shape and size to the plots throughout Birchall and in fact Greywoods is 
something of an exception as it is considerably larger than the surrounding plots. 
With the amendments made to this application it would be difficult to argue that the 
proposal was out of keeping with the site and its surroundings or that it represented 
a cramped form of development. It will be certainly be close to Croxteth but not in an 
uncharacteristic or harmful way. The proposal would protect mature trees and 
planting and the sense of spaciousness at the entrance to Birchall Lane. It also 
negates the need for a new access onto Birchall Lane.  The new access onto 
Cheddleton Road to serve Greywoods would result in the loss of a small amount of 
boundary hedging. However, there are already a series of gaps in the boundary 
hedging along this road serving drives.  A further one as part of this proposal could 
not be said to be out of character.   
 
7.11 Overall the proposal is considered to have addressed the concern in the 
previous application and is now acceptable in terms of the impact on the character 
and appearance of the area and in accordance with relevant parts of DC1 and H1 
and DC3. 
 
Impact on residential amenity 
7.12 Although ‘Layout’ and ‘Scale’ are reserved matters and not for consideration at 
this stage, a dwelling of the size and position indicated would comfortably meet the 
Councils space about dwelling standards. The new dwelling would have more than 
sufficient private amenity space and adequate parking and turning provision. 
Greywood’s similarly retains a good size rear garden of 13m depth and over 500 sq 
m in area (the Local plan requires 65 sq m) and an additional side garden of over 

Page 31



374 sq m. The revised plan also shows that adequate provision can be made for 
parking and turning within the plot.  
 
7.13 The occupiers at Croxteth are concerned about the impact on their amenity. 
However an examination of the approved plans for the two storey side extension and 
conservatory at Croxteth (ref 2001-0577), assessment of the application and plans 
and a site visit show the following:-   

a) There are no windows in the two-storey side elevation of Croxteth facing the 
application site 

b) A Mature hedge forms the boundary between the two sites 
c) The conservatory is not protected by policy; it does not contain principal 

windows. Although in correspondence the occupier of Croxteth refers to the 
single storey extension being a dining room, the approved plans for the 
extensions at Croxteth (see History  above) show the dining room within the 
main body of the house. The single storey element was approved by the 
Council as a conservatory. However, even if the 45 degree line were to be 
applied (which it is not in this case as no principal windows are affected) there 
would be no breach against the indicative position of the dwelling on Drawing 
1003/4 Revision H  

d) Applying the 25 degree line is likely to lead to a breach. However, it is not an 
appropriate tool of assessment in this case as it too is reserved for 
assessment against principal windows. In any event, the indicative position of 
the dwelling only affects part of the western elevation of the conservatory. The 
north and eastern elevations which are also glazed are unaffected. 
Furthermore, the extent of projection at the rear could be reduced by at least 
1m by bringing forward the position of the proposed dwelling. For these 
reasons there is no indication that the proposal would result in undue loss of 
daylight.   

e) There is a level change between the two sites as shown on the sections 
provided which would also help to reduce any perceived impact 

f) The closest windows to the application site on the rear elevation of Croxteth 
are to an en suite at first floor and secondary lounge window at ground floor – 
see approved plans in history section above. They are not principal windows.  

 
The conclusion based on this assessment is that the amenity of occupiers of 
Croxteth would not be adversely affected by the proposal. 
 
7.14 The amenity of occupiers of Greywoods is also a material consideration.  As 
noted above Greywoods still retains a large curtilage in the scheme.  The floor plans 
for the property reveal that no principal windows would directly face the proposed 
dwelling in the position indicated on Drawing 1003/4 Revision H.  Even if there were 
such windows a separation distance of 14m is achieved and provided there were no 
principal windows in the new side facing elevation, the Councils interface distance 
would be met. The indicative section applies the 25 degree line from the closest 
window and this also demonstrates that there would be no breach. It is noted that the 
principle windows on the rear elevation of Greywoods are beyond the conservatory 
(of Greywoods) and would not directly face the new dwelling in the position 
indicatively shown.  The conclusion is that the amenity of the occupiers of 
Greywoods would not be adversely affected by the proposal. 
 

Page 32



7.15 The revised plan with indicative layout demonstrates that a dwelling could be 
accommodated on the site which complies fully with the Council’s Space About 
Dwellings standards allowing sufficient levels of light provision, privacy and amenity 
to both existing residents and proposed occupiers of the new dwelling.  The 
application is therefore considered to have addressed the previous reason for refusal 
in respect of residential amenity. As such compliance with relevant parts of H1 and 
DC1 and the NPPF which expects all proposals to protect the amenity of existing 
and future occupiers is achieved.    
 
Biodiversity   
 
7.16 The proposal is likely to lead to the loss of the internal laurel hedge which 
separates the rear lawn and vegetable patch. This hedge could in fact be taken out 
by the owner without any recourse to the Council, subject of course to timing with 
regard to protected breeding birds. If this loss of hedge is confirmed at the reserved 
matters stage, a requirement to plant a biodiversity rich hedge could be conditioned 
along the new boundary as part of a Landscaping scheme together with other new 
planting.  The plans do actually show this intention indicatively. Given that it will be 
possible to achieve biodiversity improvement on the site, the proposal complies with 
Policy NE1 and the NPPF.  
 
Other issues 
7.17 It is accepted that Greywoods is an attractive property displaying arts and crafts 
features, similar to other examples in the Birchall area. However, there is no specific 
evidence which identifies this property as being of significant historic interest and 
value to suggest that it would be considered as a non-designated heritage asset. On 
this basis it is concluded that the existing property and its grounds would not be 
adversely affected by a single new dwelling within its grounds.    
 
 
Planning Balance & Conclusions 
7.18 The proposed development is acceptable in principle as the site is located 
within the development boundary of Leek and in a sustainable location with good 
access to the town centre and a range of services in the town via walking, cycling 
and public transport.  Policy H1 supports the provision of housing on unidentified 
windfall sites such as this within the development boundaries of towns and villages. 
 
7.19 This application has sought to address the previous reason for refusal relating 
to two dwellings on the site. The proposal has been reduced in scale and is now for 
a single dwelling. It is considered that the revised plan which shows indicatively how 
the site could be laid out has demonstrated that the proposal would not have an 
adverse impact on the character and appearance of the area or on residential 
amenity or on highway safety. There is compliance with Polices H1, DC1 and DC 3 
and in these circumstances there is no reason to withhold permission. A 
recommendation of approval is therefore made. 
 
8. RECOMMENDATION 
 

A. That planning permission be APPROVED subject to the following 
conditions:   

Page 33



 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission, or before the 
expiration of two years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved 
matters to be approved. 
Reason:- 
To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (As Amended). 
 
2. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local 
Planning Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission. 
Reason:- 
To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (As amended). 
 
3. The approval of the Local Planning Authority shall be obtained in writing 
with respect to the plans and particulars of the following reserved matters 
(hereinafter called "the reserved matters") before any development is 
commenced: 
 
- Layout 
- Scale 
- Appearance 
- Landscaping  
 
Reason:- 
The application is an outline application under the provisions of the Town and 
Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 and no 
particulars have been submitted with respect to the matters reserved in this 
permission. 
 
4. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the submitted plans and specifications as follows:- 
 
RLM1033/1 Rev A and RLM 1003/4 Revision H  
 
Reason:- 
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 
plans, for clarity and the avoidance of doubt. 
 
5. The development hereby permitted shall not take place until a Demolition 
and Construction and Environmental Method Statement has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which shall include 
the following details:- 
 
-the hours of work, which shall not exceed the following: Construction and 
associated deliveries to the site shall not take place outside 08:00 to 18:00 
hours Mondays to Fridays, and 08:00 to 13:00 hours on Saturdays, nor at any 
time on Sundays or Bank Holiday; 

Page 34



-the arrangements for prior notification to the occupiers of potentially affected 
properties; 
-the responsible person (e.g. site manager / office) who could be contacted in 
the event of complaint; 
-a scheme to minimise dust emissions arising from construction activities on 
the site.  The scheme shall include details of all dust suppression measures 
and the methods to monitor emissions of dust arising from the development.  
The approved dust suppression measures shall be maintained in a fully 
functional condition for the duration of the construction phase; 
-a scheme for recycling/disposal of waste resulting from the construction 
works; 
-the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
-the loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
-the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
-the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
-details of measures to protect the public footpaths and amenity of users of 
the pubic footpaths crossing the site during the construction works; 
- any waste material associated with the demolition or construction shall not 
be burnt on site but shall be kept securely for removal to prevent escape into 
the environment, 
- during construction/demolition phases amplified music and/or radios shall 
not be audible beyond the site boundary. 
 
All works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. Any 
alteration to this Plan shall be approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority prior to commencement of the alteration.  
 
Reason:- 
To protect the amenities of the area. 
 
6. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out 
the approved  development it must be reported in writing immediately to 
the Local Planning Authority. Development should not commence further until 
an initial investigation and risk assessment has been completed in accordance 
with a scheme to be agreed by the Local Planning Authority to assess the 
nature and extent of any contamination on the site.  If the initial site risk 
assessment indicates that potential risks exists to any identified receptors, 
development shall not commence until a detailed remediation scheme to bring 
the site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable 
risks to human health, buildings and other property, and the natural and 
historical environment has been prepared, and is subject to the approval in 
writing of the local planning authority.    
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme and prior to bringing the development into first use, a verification 
report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must 
be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason:-  

Page 35



To ensure that the proposed development meets the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework in that all potential risks to human health, 
controlled waters and wider environment are known and where necessary 
dealt with via remediation and or management of those risks. 
 
7. No soil is to be imported to the site until it has been tested for 
contamination and assessed for its suitability for the proposed development; a 
suitable methodology for testing this material should be submitted to and 
agreed by the Local Planning Authority prior to the soils being imported onto 
site. The methodology should include the sampling frequency, testing 
schedules, criteria against which the analytical results will be assessed (as 
determined by the risk assessment) and source material information. The 
 analysis shall then be carried out and validatory evidence submitted to 
and approved in  writing to by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason:-  
To ensure that the proposed development meets the requirements of the 
National Planning Policy Framework in that all potential risks to human health, 
controlled waters and wider environment are known and where necessary 
dealt with via remediation and or management of those risks. 
 
Highways 
 
8. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 
revised access to the existing dwelling within the limits of the public highway 
has been completed. 
Reason:- To comply with NPPF Paragraph 108; to comply with SMDC Local 
Plan Policy DC1 and T1; in the interests of highway safety 
 
9.The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until details 
of the surface water drainage including outfall or drainage on SUDS principles 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The drainage/SUDS works shall thereafter be constructed in 
accordance with the approved details prior to the development being first 
brought into use. 
 
Reason:- To comply with NPPF Paragraph 108; to comply with SMDC Local 
Plan Policy DC1 and T1; in the interests of highway safety 
 
10.The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 
access drive rear of the public highway has been surfaced and thereafter 
maintained in a bound and porous material for a minimum distance of 5m back 
from the site boundary in accordance with details to be first submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local planning authority. The access shall 
thereafter be surfaced in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason:- To comply with NPPF Paragraph 108; to comply with SMDC Local 
Plan Policy DC1 and T1; in the interests of highway safety 
 
11. The internal dimension of any garage proposed as part of the parking 
requirement shall be a minimum of 6m long x 3m wide for each vehicle. 

Page 36



Reason:- To comply with NPPF Paragraph 108; to comply with SMDC Local 
Plan Policy DC1 and T1; in the interests of highway safety and to comply with 
SMDC Local Plan Parking Standards 
 
12. The existing dwelling on site shall be retained and no part of it shall be 
demolished unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason:- 
The existing dwelling contributes positively to the character and appearance 
of the area. 
 
B.  In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/in 
formatives/planning obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the 
decision being issued, the Principal Planning Officer has delegated authority 
to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications 
Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of 
the Committee’s Decision. 
 

 
Informatives 
 
1.This is considered to be a sustainable form of development and so complies with 
the provisions of the NPPF. 
 
2. The applicants attention is drawn to the e-mail from Severn Trent Water dated 12th 
April 2021 regarding possible public sewers crossing the site   
 
3. The dropped crossing to the site shall be constructed in accordance with the 
submitted drawing RLM1003/1 C and SCC requirements. Please note that prior to 
the access being constructed you require Section 184 Notice of Approval from 
Staffordshire County Council. The link below provides a further link to 'vehicle 
dropped crossings' which includes a 'vehicle dropped crossing information pack' and 
an application form for a dropped crossing. Please complete and send to the 
address indicated on the application form which is Staffordshire County Council at 
Network Management Unit, Staffordshire Place 1, Wedgwood Building, Tipping 
Street, STAFFORD, Staffordshire, ST16 2DH. (or email to 
nmu@staffordshire.gov.uk) 
http://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/transport/staffshighways/licences/ 
 

Page 37



 

Page 38



 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
12 August 2021 

 

Application 
No: 

SMD/2021/0145 

Location Land on the North East side of Rivendell Lane, Leek. 

Proposal Erection of 1No. Detached Dwelling. 

Applicant Birchendel Holdings Ltd. 

Agent Mr. R. Duncan 

Parish/Ward Leek East Date registered  08/03/2021 

If you have a question about this report please contact: Mrs L. Jackson 
lisa.jackson@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

 
SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION  
 

 
REFUSE 
 

 
 
REFERRAL 
 
The application is brought before Planning Committee due to residential 
development previously being a contentious matter in this area and the fact 
that previous applications on this plot and surrounding area have been 
determined by members of the Planning Committee. 
 
 

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 

1.1 The application site is currently a vacant parcel of land at the junction 
of Rivendell Lane and Birchall Lane. At the time of the Case officer’s 
site visit, the plot had been enclosed by security fencing and split from 
the grounds of the adjacent new build. A hedgerow bounds the 
roadside edges of the application site. Within the site, some topsoil has 
been removed, there was some rubble and hardcore, builders 
merchants bags and other items including pallets. From the junction of 
Birchall Lane and Rivendell Lane, the land rises upwards and away 
from the rear of the Rivendell Road pavement and Birchall Lane. 
Adjacent to the site is a relatively recent new-build dwelling, this portion 
of land once formed part of a wider application site which included the 
land now marked for development within this application. Dwellings 
opposite the application site are on a lower level than the road behind 
their respective roadside boundaries. The character of the area is that 
of spaciousness with detached dwellings of differing sizes and design 
within the surrounding area, all with private amenity spaces and off 
road parking.  
 

Page 39

Agenda Item 8



 

Members are advised that although this land is split from the adjacent 
dwelling, the area is in fact where the garden to the new property 
should be.  

   
 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 
 

2.1 This is a Full planning application for the erection of a single detached 
dwelling with outdoor amenity space and off-road parking. The dwelling would 
offer accommodation over two floors consisting of lounge, dining room, 
kitchen, utility, 2 x WC’s, a bedroom and ensuite at ground floor level. On the 
first floor there would be three further bedrooms (one with ensuite) and a 
separate bathroom. Vehicular access would be from Birchall Lane with 
driveway parking at the front of the house. External amenity space would 
comprise gardens/patios/pathways.  
  
2.2  The application, the details attached to it, including the plans, any 
comments made by residents and the responses of consultees can be found 
on the Council’s website at:- 
 
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchS
ervlet?PKID=146325  
 
 

3. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  
 
The following planning history is relevant. The applications identified below, 
relate to both the application site identified within the scheme currently being 
considered by Members, and also the land to the north-west, upon which 
there is a recently constructed, detached dwelling (both plots formally formed 
part of a wider application site). 
 
2551 (Leek Urban District): Outline application for proposed residential 

development, Land off Birchall Lane, Leek. 
Approved. 

 
SMD/2017/0038 Proposed erection of 2 No. detached two-storey 

dwellings and new vehicular access. Refused.  
 
SMD/2018/0168 Two detached, two storey dwellings. 

Resubmission of SMD/2017/0038. Refused.  
 
APP/B3438/W/18/3210497  Appeal against refusal of application 

SMD/2018/0168 Erection of 2 No. detached, two-
storey dwellings. Appeal dismissed. 

 
SMD/2018/0321  Erection of detached dwelling. Approved.  
 
NMA/2020/0022 Non-material amendment relating to 

SMD/2018/0321. Repositioning of the vehicular 

Page 40

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=146325
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=146325


 

access, additional planting and erection of dwarf 
wall & provision of visibility splay of 2.4m x 27m 
from the proposed access to the south east across 
the frontage. Approved. 

 
Application reference 2551 (Leek Urban District) allowed Outline planning 
permission for 18 housing plots within the Birchall Lane and Rivendell Road 
area. Many of these plots have now been built upon and the land which is the 
subject of this application is identified as plot 16. 
 
 

4. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 
4.1 Planning policy considerations are; 
 
Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (Adopted September 2020) 
 
SS1   Development Principles 
SS5   Leek Area Strategy 
H1   New Housing Development 
DC1  Design Considerations 
NE1  Biodiversity and Geological Resources 
NE2   Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows 
T1    Development and Sustainable Transport 
Appendix 2 Parking Guidance  
 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
2:   Achieving sustainable development 
5:   Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
6:  Building a strong, competitive economy 
9:   Promoting sustainable transport 
12:  Achieving well-designed places 
15:  Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
 
National Planning Policy Guidance 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

1. Space About Dwellings. 
2. Design Principles for Development in the Staffordshire Moorlands: New 

Dwellings and Extensions to Dwellings.  
 
Supplementary Planning Document 
 

1. Staffordshire Moorlands Design Guide 
 
 

Page 41



 

5. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 
 
5.1 A Site notice has been displayed, neighbouring properties notified and the 
application publicised within the Leek Post and Times.  
 
Leek Town Council: Recommend refusal. Over- bearing to the Rivendell Lane 
properties. Concerns regarding highways issues, including access and 
visibility. It would not be in-keeping with the character of the area. 
 
Local Highways Authority (SCC) – No objections subject to conditions. 
 
Severn Trent Water - No objections to the application. As the proposal has 
minimal impact on the public sewerage system, there are no objections to the 
proposals and no drainage condition needs to be applied.  
 
Waste (SMDC): No issues with the application. 
 
Arboricultural Officer: Awaited. 
 
Ramblers Association: No objections concerning the planning permission as 
long as B.o.a.t footpath 25 is accessible at all times. 
 
Staffordshire Wildlife Trust: No representations received.  
 
Environmental Health Officer – No objections subject to conditions and 
advisory notes.  
 
22 letters of objection have been received, the contents of which can be 
summarised as follows; 
 

- Development has already been refused here; 
- The application to build two properties on this plot has already been 

considered and refused by the Council; 
- Highway safety concerns for vehicles and pedestrians; 
- Birchall Lane road surfacing is deteriorating; 
- Birchall Lane is a Byway Open to All Traffic BOAT; 
- Conflict with construction and delivery vehicles; 
- Drive not big enough for a car to turn around, would have to reverse 

onto the highway; 
- Drive access is close to numerous other accesses; 
- Where will visitors park; 
- Loss of a green space and biodiversity; 
- Planting scheme is not detailed; 
- Planting scheme for the adjacent new built has not been implemented; 
- Other new build dwellings remain unoccupied; 
- Unneighbourly development; 
- Overlooking to Links View; 
- Site has already been cleared in anticipation of a new dwelling; 
- The height of the ridge has not materially changed since the rejected 

application on this plot a couple of years ago 

Page 42



 

- No garage; 
- Overbearing development; 
- Birchall Lane is overdeveloped; 
- Two houses on one plot is overdevelopment; 
- Whole of the site only suitable for one dwelling and this has been built 

next door; 
- Too close to the road; 
- Out of character with surroundings; 
- Continual erosion of the character of the area; 
- Light pollution; 
- Other houses are set back and behind vegetation; 
- the presumption in favour of development does not apply. 
- Plot is too small for a 4 bedroom house; 
- Size and design is out of keeping with the area; 
- Planting will take years to establish; 
- The Environmental Health memorandum does not fully consider the 

close neighbourhood.  
 
 

6. OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE  
 
Policy Context and Principle of Development 
 
6.1  The Local Planning Authority is required to determine applications in 
accordance with the Development Plan, unless there are material 
circumstances which indicate otherwise and in determining these applications, 
it shall have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, in so far as 
material to the application and to any other material considerations.   
 
6.2  Policy SS1 of The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan identifies that 
development should contribute positively to the social, economic and 
environmental improvement of the Staffordshire Moorlands. The District 
council is able to identify a 5 year supply of deliverable housing land, in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 5 of the NPPF ‘Delivering a 
sufficient supply of homes.’  
 
6.3  Local Plan policy SS5 relates specifically to the regeneration and 
development of Leek, confirming that this will be done by measures such as 
meeting housing needs, increasing the range of available and affordable 
housing, allocating housing sites and offering general support to development 
within Development Boundaries. 
 
6.4 Local Plan policy H1 ‘New Housing Development’ sets out the stance 
that new housing development should provide for a mix of housing sizes, 
types and tenure including a proportion of affordable housing. This application 
is for a single dwelling and therefore the affordable housing/tenure 
requirement is not triggered. Density, character of the area and amenity 
standards for future and existing occupants of buildings should all be 
considered. H1 also stresses the need for development to have ‘regard to the 
location of the development’ and ‘the characteristics of the site.’ 

Page 43



 

 

6.5  The application site is currently a vacant and enclosed parcel of land at 
the junction of Rivendell Lane and Birchall Lane. The land the subject of this 
application was in fact included as garden land to serve the recently built 
(adjacent) dwelling. The land has now been separated from the new build 
house by a boundary of fencing and planting.  
 
6.6  There is a history of applications being made to build on the plot now 
being considered (see section 3. Relevant Planning History). The site is within 
the Leek Town Development Boundary. The site is not within a Conservation 
Area, there are no protected trees and no surrounding Listed Buildings. The 
land is not within any known flood zone. It is acknowledged that the 
application site is within a sustainable location. Facilities and services can 
easily be accessed and there is a public transport link in the form of a bus 
route along the A520 Cheddleton Road. 
 
 
Design and Visual Impact (Character and Appearance) 
 
6.7 Local Plan policy H1 states that ‘All development will be assessed 
according to the extent to which it provides for high quality, sustainable 
housing and to which it meets identified housing needs, having regard to the 
location of the development, the characteristics of the site and the economics 
of provision.’ 
 
6.8 Policy DC1 requires that all developments shall be well-designed and 
reinforce local distinctiveness by positively contributing to and complimenting 
the character and heritage of an area. Development should be of a high 
quality, add value to the local area, be designed to respect the site and its 
surroundings and promote a positive sense of place and identity through its 
scale, density, layout, siting, landscape, character and appearance. Proposals 
should also seek to protect the amenity of the area, including the creation of 
healthy active environments and residential amenity, in terms of satisfactory 
daylight, visual impact, sunlight, outlook, privacy, soft landscaping as well as 
noise, odour and light pollution. 
 
6.9 NPPF section 12 states that good design is a key aspect of sustainable 
development. Developments should be visually attractive as a result of good 
architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping. Section 12 
also seeks developments which are sympathetic to local character and 
history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting, 
 
6.10 This application is for a single dwelling. The proposed building plot is 
land which was included as a garden to serve the new build dwelling next 
door. Members will recall there have been previous attempts to secure 
permission for a dwelling on this corner plot and will note that a single 
dwelling has been approved and subsequently built, next door to the site 
currently being considered. Historically the concern relating to residential 
development on this corner plot has revolved around visual impact and harm 
to the character of the area and street scene. The character of the area 

Page 44



 

around the Birchall/Rivendell Lane junction is that of spaciousness with 
detached dwellings (differing sizes and design), all with private amenity 
spaces and off-road parking. Dwellings opposite the application site are on a 
lower level than the road behind their respective roadside boundaries and do 
not form visually prominent street scene features. The nearby Birchall Lane 
and Rivendell Lane dwellings are generally set back from the road and are not 
unduly prominent from the Birchall and Rivendell Lane junction. 
 
6.11 Aside from the newly built dwelling next door, the immediate 
surrounding housing (at the Rivendell/Birchall Lane junction) does not occupy 
elevated locations. The neighbouring new build house has different site 
characteristics to the site the subject of this application in that it is set further 
away from the Birchall/Rivendell Lane junction and is viewed more in the 
context of the Rivendell Lane properties. It is acknowledged that the height of 
the dwelling now proposed has been reduced from the previously refused 
(and dismissed at appeal) scheme but regardless of any quoted heights, the 
true marker for the proposed height of the dwelling is the fact that the 
submitted plans show the new house to be of a similar height to the 
neighbouring new build. The dwelling would be slightly lower, however this 
would only equate to a few centimetres and to anyone viewing the 
development from the street, this would be unnoticeable. Regardless of any 
land level reductions, the physical marker of the adjacent dwelling roof ridge 
gives a clear indication of how dominant the proposed dwelling would be. 
Coupled with the downwards slope of Rivendell Lane towards the Birchall 
Lane junction, the result is a very visually prominent dwelling. The building 
would be particularly imposing and out of keeping with the spaciousness of 
the area which would be very much apparent when travelling north eastwards 
along Birchall Lane, towards the application site and away from the main 
road. It is contended that a new dwelling on this site would harm the 
established and clearly evident open character of this part of Birchall, it would 
appear as an incongruous and imposing built feature in an otherwise green 
and open area. The Inspector, in dismissing the appeal against a dwelling on 
this corner plot, identified the importance of the character of the area, 
describing the location as a ‘green landscape’ and ‘where the houses are 
largely designed to blend in with the mature hedging and planting,’ (which is 
not the case with the application site). The Inspector also commented that the 
dismissed scheme would ‘result in hard features in an otherwise green 
landscape,’ and that the ‘appeal site has a wide road frontage which 
increases visibility of any development.’ It is clear that the current proposal 
would still be visually harmful and these site circumstances identified by the 
Inspector and officer’s (within previous reports) are fundamental obstacles to 
any development on this particular site. Whilst it is noted that the roadside 
boundaries of the site have benefitted from planting, the Inspectors comment 
of ‘it would inevitably take several years for any new planting to resemble the 
mature vegetation that is currently prevalent on Birchall Lane,’ remains true. 
 
6.12 Not only has the character of the area been identified and classed as 
important by the Inspector during the dismissal of the previous appeal, 
Members will be aware that another appeal has been dismissed at a nearby 
site called Heather Hills. The spacious character of the area of this part of 

Page 45



 

Birchall was acknowledged by an Inspector during the determination 
(dismissal) of appeal reference APP/B3438/W/17/3180522. This site, Heather 
Hills, Birchall Lane, is positioned to the north-east of the site the subject of this 
appeal. The Heather Hills application was for the erection of a single dwelling. 
When reaching the decision to dismiss the appeal the Inspector clearly stated 
that ‘‘from the viewpoint at the junction of Rivendell Lane with Birchall Lane 
looking towards the top of Birchall Lane, there is little evidence of the 
dwellings as they are screened by trees, mature vegetation and set back from 
the highway. The character of the area is therefore defined by a spacious 
pattern of development and this, combined with the mature trees and shrubs, 
gives the lane a pleasant sylvan quality.’  Officer’s note that whilst this 
description was included in a separate appeal, it is nevertheless relevant as 
the Inspector’s description of the area clearly includes the area where this 
application site is. The presence of a dwelling on this corner site would clearly 
disrupt the Inspector’s identified ‘spacious pattern’ to a significant extent, 
having a harmful impact upon the area and supports the reasons why the 
Council objected to the Rivendell Lane application. The application for the 
single dwelling next door included a large garden area. Approving the larger 
site as garden ensured that the character of the area at the junction remained 
open and spacious.  
 
Residential Amenity 
 
6.13  There are two aspects of residential amenity to consider. Firstly 
amenity in respect of the proposed dwelling, such as its garden size and 
parking area. Secondly the resultant amenity impact upon existing, 
surrounding residents. The dwelling would have its own off-road parking area 
and external amenity space. The amenity standards (detailed in the Space 
About Dwellings Supplementary Planning Guidance) concerning garden 
lengths and garden area are met as are the Appendix 2 parking standards of 
3 off-road parking spaces for a 4 bedroom dwelling. 
 
6.14  In respect of impact upon neighbouring dwellings the proposal is 
considered to be acceptable. Concerns have been raised by residents in 
respect of overlooking and overbearing development, however there are no 
direct principal window overlooking issues and it is not considered that the 
new dwelling would be close enough to any neighbouring dwelling for it to be 
judged overbearing. In the interest of neighbour amenity, if members were 
minded to approve the application it would be considered reasonable to add a 
condition restricting the times of day in which building work could be 
undertaken. 
 
Highways / Access 
 
6.15  The NPPF (section 9) and Local Plan policies DC1 and T1 are relevant 
for considering any potential highways/access/parking matters. Notably DC1 
requires provision for ‘safe and satisfactory access’ and requires development 
proposals to ‘make a contribution to meeting the parking requirement arising 
from necessary car use.’ Policy T1 states that ‘all new development is located 
where the highway network can satisfactorily accommodate traffic generated 

Page 46



 

by the development or can be improved as part of the development,’ and 
consideration should be given to ‘appropriate parking provision on a case by 
case basis with recourse to the parking guidance set out in Appendix 2.’ 
 

The vehicular access is shown to be off Birchall Lane and the application 
provides the number of off-road parking spaces required by Appendix 2 of the 
Local Plan. The County Highways officer has no objections to the application 
subject to a number of conditions including surfacing, parking and visibility 
splays. It is noted that the Highways officer response references drawing 
number 1711-01 Rev A. The current plan is Revision B however the Highways 
officer’s comments remain valid due to no highways/parking related details 
being changed between the two revisions. For the reasons outlined above it is 
considered that the application is acceptable in highways terms.  
 
Environmental Health 
 
6.16  The Environmental Health Officer has considered the application and 
has raised no objection to the application subject to conditions. Matters to 
consider are those of noise, contamination and waste. 
 
Noise 
 
6.17  The application site is surrounded by residential development and as 
such, if Members are minded to approve the application, there exists the 
potential for existing residents to be disturbed by noise during the construction 
phase. The Environmental Health Officer has recommended a condition to 
ensure that all noisy construction activities are restricted to certain times of 
the day and that no noisy construction activities should take place on Sundays 
or Bank Holidays.  
 
Contamination/Waste 
 
6.18  Environmental Health officers have no objections in respect of these 
matters. Suitably worded conditions could deal with the finding of any 
unexpected contaminated material(s). A condition would ensure that no top 
soil could be brought onto the site until it had been tested for contamination 
and any waste being removed from the site rather than being burnt.  
 
Ecology/Biodiversity and Trees  
 
6.19  Local Plan policies DC1, NE1 and NE2 are relevant to this application 
in that they seek well designed proposals including; 
 

 Seeking development which respects and enhances local landscape 
character; 

 Development to be designed to respect the site and its surroundings 
and create a positive sense of place including through its landscaping; 
and 

 protect the amenity of the area including soft landscaping; 
 

Page 47



 

6.20   The submitted plans show the applicant’s intentions of landscaping the 
site. Comments are awaited from the council’s Arboricultural officer and will 
be reported to Members via the late representations update.  
 
 
Drainage 
 
6.21  Severn Trent Water has advised it does not have any objections to the 
application. The consultation comments state that the proposal has minimal 
impact on the public sewerage system and that a drainage condition is not 
required.  
 
Section 106 Matters 
 
6.22 The scheme for 1 dwelling does not trigger the requirement for any 
S106 contributions. 
 
Conclusion and Planning Balance  
 
6.23   Whilst the proposal for a single dwelling would add to the housing 
provision within the Staffordshire Moorlands, it is noted that the council 
(through adoption of its Local Plan) can now demonstrate a 5 year supply of 
deliverable housing land. it is considered that the proposal does not respond 
positively to the context of the area (including its identified character and 
appearance as outlined earlier in the report). The application is therefore not 
sustainable development as required by the Framework. Member’s are 
advised that the Council has approved a single dwelling next door but 
contends that a dwelling on the corner plot is unacceptable in terms of its 
adverse visual impact upon the open character and spaciousness of the area.  
 
 

7. OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 
 

A. Full Planning Permission is REFUSED for the following 
reason(s):- 

 
1. The positioning of a dwelling on this visually conspicuous corner 

plot would result in a development which would fail to improve or 
enhance the visual amenities of the surrounding area. the 
development would appear as an incongruous and imposing built 
feature within an otherwise open and spacious area to the 
detriment of the street scene and character of the surrounding 
area. The application is therefore contrary to policies SS1, H1 and 
DC1 of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (Adopted 
September 2020) and the National Planning Policy Framework 
including section 12.  

 
B.  In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/in 
formatives/planning obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to 

Page 48



 

the decision being issued, the Principal Planning Officer has delegated 
authority to do so in consultation with the Chairman of the Planning 
Applications Committee, provided that the changes do not exceed the 
substantive nature of the Committee’s Decision. 
 

 

Page 49



 

 
 
 

Page 50



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
12th August 2021 

 

Application 
No: 

SMD/2020/0656 

Location Rosehill, Nabb Lane, Alton, ST10 4AY 

Proposal Two Holiday Lodges  

Applicant Mr P Bain 

Agent Rob Duncan 

Parish/ward Alton Date registered: 25.11. 2020 

If you have a question about this report please contact: Chris Johnston tel: 01538 
395400 ext. 4123 christopher.johnston@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 
REFERRAL 
 
The application is before committee because a large number of objections from local 
residents has been received.   
 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
 

 
APPROVE with conditions 
 

  
 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
2.1 The site lies in the countryside a short distance to the south of Alton village and 
is also within the Churnet Valley.  It is approx. 75 metres south of the development 
boundary of the village (as defined in the Council’s Local Plan).    It comprises part of 
a residential property, Rosehill, which has large grounds and is on the east side of 
Nabb Lane, a narrow country lane connected to Denstone Lane, the B5032 main 
road to the north.  The property extends all the way up to Denstone Lane towards 
the north-east.  There is an access off Nabb Lane into the property and the 
application site itself lies to the other side of the existing dwelling, to the east of the 
house, reached by a driveway connected to the access.  There is a brick-and-tile 
long detached double garage on the site connected to the residential use of the 
property.  The drive and part of the current gravel parking area is also included in the 
site.  Part of the open grounds next to the garage is also included.  The land to the 
east of the site (and overall property) comprises fields and there is more open land to 
the other side of the lane to the west.  To the south of Rosehill on the other side of 
the lane, further into the open countryside, is a farm (Paradise Farm which includes 
a Grade II listed farmhouse close to the road).  To the north of Rosehill is a dwelling, 
Ash Croft and another dwelling lies immediately to the north of this at the corner of 
Nabb Lane and Denstone Lane, within the development boundary, called Nabb 
Cottage, which is Grade II listed.    The site is within the Churnet Valley. 
 

Page 51

Agenda Item 9

mailto:christopher.johnston@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


       
 
 

3. THE APPLICATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 This is a full application for two single-storey 2-bed holiday lodges, with one 
being the conversion and extension of the current garage building and the other 
being a typical single-storey timber lodge form and design with low roof pitches 
(amended plans received on 4th August 2021), resulting in a smaller footprint and 
less height than the garage.  The existing vehicle door to the garage would be 
replaced with cladding and windows and new windows would also be inserted into 
the existing side and rear walls. 
 
3.2 The existing access and driveway would be used by the guests/holidaymakers 
as the entrance to the holiday lodges but a new pedestrian path would also be 
formed from the site, running along the edge of the garden of the house and along 
the north  boundary of the property (part of which is shared with Ash Croft), 
connecting to an existing gate off Nabb Lane in the north-west corner of the property.  
This was added onto the plans on 9th July 2021 along with supporting information 
from the applicant’s agent to address highway safety concerns on Nabb Lane: 
 
3.3  These current plans differ with those originally submitted last year.  The original 
scheme comprised two new-build 2-bed timber lodges on a patch of land next to the 
north boundary of the site (shared with Ash Croft) but with the use of the existing 
vehicular access at Rosehill and the same proposed path connecting the existing 
parking area to the original site. Those original plans have been superseded by 
plans showing the new site, in May 2021, which showed a brick and tile new-build 
with steeper roof next to the garage conversion and with a design to try to replicate 
the garage.  The May plans also showed a large proposed canopy structure to the 
side of the garage building.  The final amended plans in August 2021 switched the 
brick-and-tile new-build with one of the originally proposed timber lodges but with the 
same siting next to the garage and also the removal of the canopy structure from the 
garage.   
 
3.4   A Bat and Bird Ecological Survey Report was submitted in June 2021.  
 
3.5  The application includes a Planning Statement and also a Heritage Statement 
was later submitted due to the close proximity of the property to two listed buildings. 
 
3.6   Details of the application including the drawings, consultation responses and 
representations can be viewed on the following link:  
 
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?
PKID=142264 
 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
4.1 The most recent planning applications at the property are as follows: 
 

Page 52

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=142264
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=142264


SMD/2015/0756:  Conversion of an existing double garage into a one and 
half storey domestic dwelling with two parking spaces.   Appeal on grounds of non-
determination.  Appeal dismissed on the grounds of sustainability (i.e. would 
increase car use to reach services) and highway safety. 
 
SMD/2017/0825:  Conversion of the detached garage into annex.  Approved but not 
implemented. 
 
SMD/2019/0751:  Alterations to vehicular access.  Approved.   
 

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 
5.1  The Development Plan comprises of: 

 The Local Plan Development Document (adopted Sep 2020) 
 
Adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan - Sep 2020 
 
5.2  The following Local Plan policies are relevant to the application:- 
 

 SS1 Development Principles 
 SS10 Other Rural Area Strategy 
 SS11 Churnet Valley Strategy    
 DC1 Design Considerations  
 DC2 The Historic Environment 
 E4   Tourism and Cultural Development 
 NE1  Biodiversity and Geological Resources 
 T1 Sustainable Transport 

 
Churnet Valley Masterplan (2014) 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2021) 
 
Sections 
6:  Building a Strong Competitive Economy 
12:  Achieving Well Designed Places 
15:  Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment 
16:  Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment 
 

6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.1  A site notice to advertise the original plans submitted in November was posted 
and displayed in Nabb Lane outside of the site on the 14th December, expiring on the 
4th January 2021.  Adjacent neighbours were also notified by a letter.  When the 
amended plans were received, adjacent neighbours and all objectors to the original 
scheme were notified on 10.5.21 and again notified when the site plan was amended 
to show the proposed pedestrian link, on 13.7.21.  
 
6.2  In response to the original plans, eighteen letters of objection were received 
from local residents and one letter of objection received from Churnet Valley 
Conservation Society.  The points raised are as follows:- 

Page 53



 

 Unsustainable location leading to increased car use, road congestion and 
harm to air quality 

 The demand for holiday accommodation is already met in this area by other 
developments 

 Harm to residential amenity affecting adjacent neighbours caused by noise, 
light pollution, overlooking and odours from BBQs 

 Harm to pedestrian safety due to lack of footpath on Nabb Lane and a 
hazardous road junction to the north 

 The site is not well connected to other tourist facilities 

 The proposal would not benefit the local economy or employment as the 
lodges are self-catering 

 Harm to highway and pedestrian safety on Nabb Lane, a narrow country lane, 
caused by increased traffic 

 The design/appearance of the lodges would be out of keeping with the rural 
area and would be visible from the road 

 Harm to the setting of two nearby listed buildings 

 No drainage plans provided 

 Ineffective screening along boundary 

 No details of infrastructure therefore concerns over use of noisy generators 

 Increased traffic will harm wildlife 

 Harm to wildlife habitat in the village 

 Local B&Bs and Inns have closed due to competition from accommodation at 
Alton Towers 

 
6.3  Three letters were received neither objecting or supporting the application 
but raising the following points: 
 

 The lodges would benefit local shops and pubs but should be moved 
further away from other dwellings 

 Tourism helps to boost the local economy 

 There is not enough tourist accommodation in Alton 
 
6.4  There were four letters of support received and the letters outlined positive 
economic benefits to the area from tourism, benefiting shops and pubs and which 
would also not lead to any significant increase in traffic and therefore not lead to 
any highway safety concerns.  
 
6.5  In response to the amended plans to the show re-location of the site, 
received in May 2021, letters were received from five of the previous objectors.  
The points raised in addition to those raised above are as follows:- 
 

 The new siting would harm the boundary hedge which is within another 
property and would be difficult to maintain 

 The proposal would urbanise the area 

 The new lodges have a more modern and permanent appearance less in 
keeping with the area than the timber chalets of the original proposal 

 The lodges would still be visible from Nabb Lane due to inadequate 
hedge screening and would affect the setting of the listed farmhouse 

Page 54



 Inadequate private outdoor space for holiday let guests 

 Inadequate parking area 

 Harm to livestock from litter and other items thrown by guests 

 There would be pressure in the future to use the lodges as separate 
dwellings not holiday lets 

 
6.6. No letters have been received in response to the plans amended in July 2021 
which show the addition of the pedestrian path.  However, any comments received 
will be reported at the Committee meeting. 
 
Alton Parish Council 
 
6.7 In response to the original plans:  This application was unanimously objected 
to bythe parish council for the following reasons: Nabb Lane is a small road and the 
additional traffic would be a safety issue. It is overdevelopment in the area and 
outside the village plan. The application is out of keeping with the area, invasive and 
unneighbourly. 
 
6.8 In response to the amended siting:  This application was unanimously objected to 
by the parish council for the following reasons: Nabb Lane is a small road and the 
additional traffic would be a safety issue. It is overdevelopment in the area and 
outside the village plan. The amended application is still out of keeping with the area, 
invasive and unneighbourly. Concerns were also expressed about the discharge of 
waste water and inadequate drainage, there is no drainage plan shown on the 
application. 
 
6.9  No letters from the Parish Council were received in response to the July 2021 
amended plans which show the addition of the footpath. However, any comments 
received will be reported at the Committee meeting. 
 
SCC Highways Authority 
 
6.10 In response to the original plans, the local highways authority considered the 
application be refused for the following reasons: 
 
1.The proposed development would exacerbate the risk of pedestrian/vehicle conflict 
by reason of inadequate provision for pedestrians leading to an increase in the 
likelihood of danger to highway users.  
 
2.The access road leading to the site is substandard in that it is of inadequate width 
to allow two vehicles to pass and the increased use of such roads would result in an 
increase in the likelihood of danger to road users.  
 
6.11 The local highways authority also made the following comments: 
 
The Planning Inspectorate in its decision to dismiss appeal of SMD/2015/0756 
commented on potential proposals to improve the access.  The Inspector concluded 
that... 'I have given consideration to a condition on any planning consent requiring 
the 
submission of details pertaining to the access and highways matters. However this 

Page 55



would not overcome the harm that I have identified as a result of the material 
increase in traffic to and from the site'. 
 
Visibility at the access has been improved under SMD/2019/0751, though not to the 
standards or precise detail approved. However, following on from the comments 
made by the inspector, 'this would not overcome the harm that I have identified as a 
result of the material increase in traffic to and from the site'. 
 
Two holiday lets would constitute a material increase in traffic to and from the site. 
 
The Inspector also commented: 'Nabb Lane is a single track road, devoid of a 
pavement, cycle lane or street lighting. I appreciate that local residents may currently 
walk and cycle along the lane, however, without a safe and well-lit means of 
accessing the village, it is likely that prospective occupiers would use the car for 
regular trips to meet their daily needs. ............. Consequently it is reasonable to 
surmise that future residents of the new dwelling would be reliant on the private 
motor vehicle. Whilst the proposal might not, of itself, generate a large number of 
traffic movements, the effect of allowing such development in a functionally isolated 
location would be likely to increase the amount of unsustainable journeys made. As 
a result, residents would be unable to make sustainable transport choices in 
accordance with the objectives of the Framework.' 
 
While these comments were in relation to a proposed dwelling, they are also relevant 
to two holiday lets which will be occupied short term by different occupiers. 
 
6.12 In response to the amended plans to show the provision of a pedestrian path to 
Nabb Lane and further supporting details from the applicant’s agent: 
 
No objection raised subject to conditions.   
 
6.13 The following comments were made:  Following highways recommendation of 
refusal, the proposal has been discussed with planning agent.  SMD/2015/0756 for a 
dwelling was dismissed at appeal. Inspector agreed with highway view that 
visibility was restricted but went on to identify harm as a result in the material 
increase in traffic. This comment was not explained in the decision. 
 
Highways objection to SMD/2015/0756 was addressed in SMD/2019/0751 which has 
been partially implemented. This should be completed in accordance with approved 
drawings. Following highway/agent discussion, revised drawing 0101 P.03 was 
submitted clearly showing the alternative pedestrian route within the site leading 
towards Alton. Use of this access will result in pedestrians walking in the 
carriageway for only approximately 40m as far as the informal access to the 
Blacksmiths Arms. 
 
Nabb Lane is an existing single track road similar to other roads in the Moorlands 
and wider Peak District. Holiday let occupants will have a different trip generation 
profile to permanent occupants of a dwelling. 
 
Environmental Health 
 

Page 56



6.14 No objection subject to standard conditions which include a condition for no 
amplified sound to be audible at site boundaries. 
  
SMDC Conservation Officer 
 
6.15 In response to the original plans:  I consider that the development would be 
harmful to landscape/settlement character and the wider setting of the nearby Listed 
Buildings. 
 
6.16 In response to the amended plans showing a different siting:  With the revised 
siting of the holiday lodge and conversion of the existing garage into an additional 
holiday lodge there will be no detrimental impact on the setting of surrounding Listed 
Buildings. 
 

Staffordshire Wildlife Trust 
 
6.17 Holding objection.   Further information required regarding ecology impacts.  
Required prior to determination: 
 
1. Further information on proposed footpath access, foul drainage construction and 
vegetation clearance. 
2. Walkover survey to assess potential presence and impact to protected species. 
 
6.18 SWT also commented:  The amended access plans appear to create a new 
pathway which will result in vegetation clearance, and possibly roadside hedgerow 
removal. There are no details provided for foul drainage, which would need to be 
constructed in the vicinity. This would appear to result in a net loss of vegetation 
from the site and potential impacts to species if present. Further information is 
required to judge the impacts to ecology. 
 
The Bat and Bird Survey found the garage to be negligible for bats and birds. 
 
6.19 In response to further ecology information from the applicant’s agent in 
response to the holding objection: 
 
Holding Objection removed.  However, conditions recommended to secure species 
protection/ mitigation and habitat/ landscaping enhancement. 
 
 
Severn Trent Water 
 
6.20 No objection and do not require a drainage condition to be applied.  
 
Waste Collection Services 
 
6.21 No issues with the proposal. 
 
 

7. OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE 
 

Page 57



Introduction 
 
7.1  The main issues with the proposal are as follows: 
 

 The principle of the proposal and sustainability 

 The impact on the character and appearance of the area including nearby 
listed buildings 

 The impact on residential amenity 

 The impact on highway safety 

 The impact on the ecological value of the site 
 
The principle of development 
 
7.2  In terms of the principle of the proposal, the tourist accommodation proposal 
would be viewed against the following Local Plan policies: 
 
7.3 Policy SS10, which is the strategy for the countryside (those areas outside of the 
development boundaries of towns and larger villages) and with regard to tourist 
related development, seeks to enhance tourist opportunities including supporting 
sustainable tourism developments and measures in the Churnet Valley in 
accordance with Policy SS 11 and the Churnet Valley Masterplan SPD. 
 
7.4 Policy SS11 states that particular support will be given to short stay and long 
stay visitor accommodation and also the “expansion of existing tourist attractions and 
facilities and the provision of compatible new tourist attractions and facilities”.  It also 
states that any development should be of a scale and nature and of a high standard 
of design which conserves and enhances the heritage, landscape and biodiversity of 
the area. 
 
7.5  With regard to the Churnet Valley Masterplan and the strategy for the Alton 
area, this states that outside of Alton Towers, there should be “minimal 
development”. 
 
7.6  Policy E4 ‘Tourism and Cultural Development’ is the specific policy for tourism 
and states that new tourist, visitor and cultural accommodation, attractions and 
facilities should be developed in locations that offer, or are capable of offering either: 
 
A) good connectivity with other tourist destinations and amenities, particularly by 
public transport, walking and cycling; or 
B) in locations in or close to settlements where local services, facilities and public 
transport are available; or 
C) in areas specifically identified for tourism development in the Churnet Valley 
Masterplan or other relevant documents.  
 
7.7  Policy E4 also states that new accommodation, attractions and facilities should: 
 
A) support the provision and expansion of tourist, visitor and cultural facilities in the 
rural areas where needs are not met by existing facilities; and 
B) all development shall be of an appropriate quality, scale and character compatible 
with the local area, protect the residential amenity of the area, enhance, the heritage, 

Page 58



landscape and biodiversity of the area and shall not harm interests of acknowledged 
importance. 
 
7.8  Policies S10 and S11 are generally supportive of new tourist facilities (which 
includes accommodation), particularly in the Churnet Valley, providing they are 
compatible with the area.  It is considered the scale of development, comprising the 
conversion of an existing building and the provision of a small timber lodge, in this 
location just outside of a large village and where there are neighbouring buildings, is 
compatible with the immediate surrounding area.  It is arguable if the design could 
amount to being “high quality” although the conversion would amount to an 
improvement to the appearance of a garage.  The timber lodge has a conventional 
timber lodge appearance and although this is not a traditional building style in the 
District, it does not harm the character and appearance of the area particularly as the 
site is generally well screened from roads and public footpaths and the new-build 
would have very limited height.  The proposal would conserve the heritage, 
landscape and biodiversity of the area.  This point is elaborated on further in this 
report. 
 
7.9  The Churnet Valley Masterplan requires “minimal” development outside of Alton 
Towers but does not define “minimal”.  I consider that for the purposes of this 
proposal, the conversion of an existing building and provision of small single-storey 
unit, could in terms of the overall scope of development, arguably be classed as 
“minimal”. 
 
7.10  With regard to Policy E4, the site is not within an area allocated for tourism 
related development.  In terms of whether there is good connectivity with other 
tourist destinations and amenities, particularly by public transport, walking and 
cycling,  although the site is close to Alton Towers, visitors to this destination may 
not be encouraged to walk or cycle due to the hilly terrain and there is no frequent 
public transport link.  However, tourist amenities with Alton village such as food 
shops and eating places are easily accessible via cycling or walking.  The edge of 
the village is only approx. 75 metres away and there is a pub at the end of Nabb 
Lane.  I therefore consider that, particular as the site is close to a large village with 
services such as shops and eating places, the proposal is compliant with the first 
part of Policy E4. 
 
7.11  In terms of whether the proposal would “support the provision and expansion of 
tourist, visitor and cultural facilities in the rural areas where needs are not met by 
existing facilities”, the Council’s Regeneration Team has stated the following (in Feb 
2021), regarding the demand for tourist accommodation in the District: 
 

“we welcome all new tourist accommodation in the Moorlands as there is an 
undersupply of bed spaces compared to Derbyshire  and we currently have a 
significant imbalance between number of day visitors (5.046 mil) and staying 
visitors (1.778mil). It is also clear from evidence that an overnight visitor 
spends double a day visitor per person per day (spend pp overnight stays = 
£78.48, spend pp day visitors £38.96) so that the opportunity to convert a day 
to a staying visitor through the provision of new accommodation will have a 
positive impact on the economy of the district not just the provider 
themselves.” 

Page 59



 
7.12  It does appear there is a demand for more tourist accommodation in general.  
Furthermore, it is noted that although there is a large significant supply of 
accommodation at Alton Towers resort, including log cabins, this is mainly hotel or 
serviced accommodation and the resort provides all the catering and entertainment 
facilities, leading guests to be unlikely to leave the resort to support shops, pubs, or 
eating establishments in the village or other tourist attractions in the area.   
 
7.13  The proposal would at least offer a different form of tourist accommodation for 
visitors who do not want to stay bound by a resort and want a different experience 
e.g.  explore the wider area and other attractions of the Churnet Valley and to eat at 
pubs in the village rather than within a resort.  i.e. the proposal would widen the 
range of the type of accommodation on offer in the Alton area. 
 
7.14  With regard to part B of Policy E4, it is not considered the quality of the 
development is inappropriate to the area and that the scale and character is not out 
of keeping with the area and the residential amenities would not be harmed (this is 
addressed further on in this report).  However, it must also be assessed whether or 
not the proposal would lead to a particular enhancement of the heritage, landscape 
and biodiversity qualities of the area and this is elaborated on further in this report. 
 
7.15  In 2016, a proposal to convert the double garage into a dwelling was dismissed 
on appeal due to it being considered to be unsustainable (i.e. would have led to a 
reliance on the car to reach shops, services and workplaces) and also due to the 
impact on highway safety given the quality of the access and nature of the narrow 
lane.  It is considered that the current scheme for two holiday lodges would have 
different impacts to the scheme for one dwelling in terms of sustainability.  Holiday 
lodge guests would demand access only to tourist attractions, convenience/food 
shops and eating establishments and not schools and workplaces as demanded by 
permanent residents.  The two holiday lodges are also unlikely to be occupied 
permanently as there is likely to be vacancies during off-peak times of year (e.g 
Winter).  The number of vehicle movements arising from two holiday lodges 
therefore cannot be compared to those of one permanent dwelling.  Furthermore, the 
current application proposes a pedestrian access to a gate further along Nabb Lane, 
where the distance walked along the road to the entrance of the village (marked by a 
pub likely to be in use to guests) would be approx. 40 metres, whereas the distance 
from the existing access is approx. 100 metres and the current scheme is far more 
encouraging of walking or cycling to reach the village along the narrow road as well 
as reducing the highway safety risks.  The impact on highway safety is addressed 
more fully further on in this report.   
 
7.16 Overall, the principle of the development complies with policies SS10, SS11 
and E4 of the Local Plan and is also in line with the government planning guidance 
contained within the NPPF which in Section 6 ‘Building a Strong and Competitive 
Economy’ which encourages “sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments 
which respect the character of the countryside.”  
 

Impact on the character and appearance of the area including heritage assets 
 

7.17  The scheme would comprise the conversion of an existing brick and tile garage 

Page 60



building and the external alterations would not harm its appearance.  The new-build 
would not exceed the scale or height of the garage building.  The newbuild has a 
conventional timber lodge form and design which is not traditional to the area (not 
least the materials) but it is considered this is preferable to the previous proposed 
new-build which had a more solid and permanent form and appearance with brick 
walls and a considerably higher tiled roof and although this is more in keeping with 
traditional building styles in this area, it would also have had a much greater visual 
impact than the timber lodge.   The timber lodge, by contrast, is a lightweight form 
which could also easily be removed or dismantled if the requirement for the 
accommodation ceases in the future.  
 
7.18 The development would be very well screened from Denstone Lane to the north 
where there is thick tree and hedge screening on top of banking along the south side 
of this road.  There would be glimpses of the development from Nabb Lane despite 
the presence of large trees to the west of the site and hedgerows along the lane.  
The hedgerows along the road outside of the property have been reduced in height 
to improve visibility at the access, allowing the development to be more visible.  
However, due to the height of the development and its siting, it is not considered the 
development would be harmfully prominent when approaching Alton along Nabb 
Lane with just the roofs visible above boundary hedging.  There is one nearby 
footpath, crossing fields to the south of the site in an east/west direction.  From this 
path, the roof of the existing garage is visible.  The proposed new-build would be 
lower than the garage and the roof of this would be visible but only against the 
backdrop of the current garage building and therefore would not lead to additional 
harm to the landscape when viewed from the east.   
 
7.19   The position of the new-build is not considered to be close enough to the 
nearest listed buildings (Paradise Farm to the south and Nabb Cottage to the north-
west) to lead to harm to their settings.  Although it may be possible to view the new-
build from Paradise Farm, there is no visual connection between the two.   
 
7.20  By not harming the landscape or heritage qualities of the area, the proposal 
would “maintain” these but the scheme would not enhance the heritage value of the 
area and would not enhance the landscape, although it is considered that more 
robust native hedge or tree planting should be undertaken at the east boundary of 
the site to further screen the development, by way of a planning condition and that 
this can still lead to an “enhancement”, albeit small. 
 
7.21 Overall, the proposal would comply with policies DC1 ‘Design Considerations’ 
and DC2 ‘The Historical Environment’ as well as policies SS10, SS11 and E4.  It 
would also be in line with Section 12 of the NPPF relating to achieving well designed 
places and Section 16 relating to the historical environment. 
 
Impact on the residential amenities of the area 
 
7.22   It is considered the two holiday lodges would not be close enough to nearest 
dwellings to lead to any harms to the residential amenities or living conditions of 
neighbours, unlike the original scheme which was close to the boundary of Ash 
Croft.    Both of the nearest dwellings (Ash Croft and Paradise Farm), would be 
approx. 50 metres away exceeding the distances recommended in the Council’s 

Page 61



Space About Dwellings guidance.  There would be no harmful overlooking from the 
two holiday lodges.  Due to the distances, the Environmental Health Section do not 
raise any concerns regarding harmful noise creation but do recommend a condition 
to restrict any noise amplification.  The proposal would comply with Policy DC1 
‘Design Considerations’ as well as Policy E4 and would also be in line with Section 
12 of the NPPF. 
 
The impact on the biodiversity value of the area 
 
7.23 Staffordshire Wildlife Trust initially issued a holding objection on the basis of 
lack of information about the removal of vegetation arising from the creation of the 
new pedestrian path, foul drainage works and the “possible” removal of hedgerows 
either side of the site access and also due to a lack of information about species 
present, requesting a “Walkover Survey” be undertaken. SWT identified the possible 
presence of badgers in the area and also great crested newts (as there is a pond at 
the property and two others within 250m of the site) but did not object on this basis 
subject to a condition to secure protection measures during the construction phase.  
The Bat and Bird Survey Report revealed the current building to be converted had 
negligible potential for use by bats as a roost or bird nesting and this was upheld by 
SWT. 
 
7.24 In response to the holding objection, the applicant’s agent stated the following: 

 The footpath is not proposed, it is already in situ and lies within the applicant's 
garden  

 There is an existing gateway onto Nabb Lane as you will have seen on your 
site visit so no vegetation removal is required.  The leylandii and 
rhododendron bushes that previously enclosed the northern site boundary 
were replaced by the fence shown in the attached photograph during 
2019.  Said works did not require consent, nor does it form part of this 
application.   

 The foul drainage for the proposed cabins will connect to the existing septic 
tank that lies to the immediate west of the garage within the garden.  This is of 
sufficient capacity to accommodate the two new cabins along with the house, 
and drains to an existing soakaway in the field some 100m to the north.  The 
formation of the connections from the cabins to the existing septic tank will not 
necessitate any removal of vegetation.  

 The siting of the new cabin will be on an area of lawn (formerly a rose garden) 
and does not require the removal of any vegetation / hedgerows  

 We have no objection to adopting reasonable precaution methods during the 
construction phase, such as badger ramps etc, and are also agreeable to 
providing a bat and bird box on each cabin to secure a net gain to biodiversity, 
but in light of the comments above I think a walkover survey is unduly onerous 
and unnecessary.   

7.25  On the basis of the above, SWT removed their holding objection and 
recommended conditions to enhance the level of biodiversity via further planting e.g. 
native hedge and tree planting and providing bird and bat boxes as well as the 
protection and mitigation measures for possible badgers and newts during the 
construction phase. 

Page 62



 
7.26 Therefore, whilst the scheme as it currently stands only maintains and not 
enhances the level of biodiversity in the area, enhancements can be easily achieved 
at the site via planning conditions, as there is sufficient scope within the property for 
further planting (which can enhance the landscape and biodiversity values of the 
area) in addition to compensating for previous vegetation removal and the hedgerow 
reduction at the access (this has not been removed and the approved access works 
require hedge repositioning only) along with other measures to encourage wildlife.  
 
7.27  Overall, the proposal would not cause significant harm to the ecological value 
of the area and together with the enhancements the scheme would comply with 
Policy NE1 (relating to biodiversity) of the Local Plan as well as policies S10, S11 
and E4.  The proposal would also be in line with Section 15 of the NPPF (relating to 
the natural environment).  
 
The impact on highway safety 
 
7.28 This appears to be the main concern locally with the scheme and is raised in 
most of the letters of objection received.  It is recognised that the lane connecting the 
property to the village is narrow and there is no pedestrian footway along the lane.  
The proposed two holiday lets would lead to an increase in vehicle movements and 
therefore more vehicles using the narrow lane.  The concerns over the impact of this 
on users of the road including walkers and horse riders as well as on cars and 
agricultural vehicles is understandable and the local highways authority objected to 
the original scheme. 
 
7.29 Planning permission was given in February 2020 for improvements at the 
access which involve setting back the hedgerow either side of the access, further 
away from the road, to improve the level of visibility along the road when entering or 
existing the access.  This has been partly implemented but not completed and was 
insufficient to remove the highways objection to the holiday lodge scheme.  
However, a pedestrian link from the site to an existing gate further along the lane 
towards the village has been added to the scheme.  This has already been built.  
The distance that holiday lodge guests would need to walk along the lane to reach 
the village has been reduced from approx. 100 metres to approx. 40 metres, where 
the pub is located and footways on wider roads appear.   
 
7.30 The applicant’s agent also put forward the following information: 
 

The resultant distance that pedestrians would need to walk along the 
carriageway of Nabb Lane would not be materially different to that which the 
other properties along Nabb Lane experience 
 
I also note that the only previous concern raised in respect of highway safety 
by the Local Highway Authority was that of visibility on egress (no concerns 
having been raised about pedestrian / vehicular conflict).  In dismissing the 
subsequent appeal, the Planning Inspector agreed.  Neither the Local 
Highway Authority, nor the Planning Inspector, raised any concerns about the 
suitability of the carriageway or the potential for pedestrian / vehicular conflict 
causing harm to highway safety.   

Page 63



 
This current application benefits from an improved means of vehicular access 
compared to that assessed during the previous appeal, and also incorporates 
the means of pedestrian access, and thus amounts to a materially different 
proposal to the previously refused/dismissed on the site.  

    
7.31 On the basis of the addition of the pedestrian link, the approved vehicular 
access improvement works  (which also improve the level of safety for all users of 
the lane) and the further information above, the local highways authority has 
removed its objection, on condition that the access improvement works and the 
pedestrian path works are completed/maintained before the proposed lodges are 
first brought into use. 
 
7.32 Overall, with the safeguard of the above amendments and conditions, it is not 
considered the scheme would lead to any significant further harm to the level of 
highway safety on Nabb Lane and that the proposal would comply with Policy T1 of 
the Local Plan.  
 
Other Points 
 
7.33 A large volume of objection letters were received from local residents, mostly 
raising issues relating to highway safety, increased vehicle movements (affecting air 
quality), impact on the character and appearance of the area, impacts on residential 
amenity, effect on wildlife and the level of demand for holiday lets in the area and 
these issues have been addressed in this report. Other issues and concerns have 
been raised and these are addressed below: 
 
7.34  With regard to drainage, the proposed lodges would share an existing septic 
tank with the existing dwelling and which is located within the property and surface 
water drainage would run to existing soakaways also at the property.  A condition 
would be added requiring this.  It is also likely the lodges would be connected to 
other mains services as they also exist at the residential property (e.g. electricity).  
 
7.35  With regard to the maintenance of the boundary hedge alleged to be within a 
neighbouring property, this is a legal or civil matter and not a planning consideration. 
 
7.36  With regard to parking, the proposed parking areas for the lodges and the 
existing hardstanding areas are of sufficient size for the parking of two cars for each 
of the lodges, in accordance with the Council’s parking standards and for three cars 
for the existing dwelling in accordance with the same parking standards and that 
there is sufficient turning space for all cars parked at the property. 
 
7.37  With regard to the size of private outdoor space for holiday let guests, there is 
no policy requirement for this for holiday let guests but there is ample green  space 
within the property (excluding the private rear garden of the house) that can be used 
for this purpose. 
 
7.38  With regard to the impact on livestock from litter thrown by guests, there is no 
evidence that holiday guests would be throwing litter and other items over the hedge 
harming livestock but a condition would be added requiring the provision of separate 

Page 64



waste bin areas for each lodge. 
 
7.39  With regard to pressure in the future to use the lodges as separate dwellings 
not holiday lets, a condition would be added to restrict the length of occupation and 
frequency of occupation of each lodge to ensure they are retained as holiday lodges.    
 
 
Conclusion and Planning Balance 
 
7.40  The planning policies in the Local Plan are generally supportive of tourist-
related development in the interests of the local economy, particularly in the Churnet 
Valley, in principle but providing it is sustainable.  Although it is accepted that to 
reach the nearest tourist attractions, there would be the likely use of the car, the 
proposed site is within an easy walking distance to the large village of Alton where 
tourist-related services/facilities exist such as eating established and convenience 
stores and there is easy access to rural walking trails and footpaths.  The inclusion of 
a pedestrian pathway to the nearest road into the village would provide safer access 
to the village.  The proposal would not harm the character, appearance or amenities 
of the area and would also not harm the biodiversity value of the area, with the 
safeguard of conditions and enhancements can be practically achieved for the 
immediate landscape and ecological value of the area via new planting.  The 
previously approved improvements to the site access and inclusion of the pedestrian 
link would ensure no significant harm to the level of highway safety on Nabb Lane.  
Overall, the scheme would provide economic benefits which although small due to 
the scheme being for two 2-bed units, would not be outweighed by any harm.  
Therefore, on balance, the proposal is deemed to be acceptable. It complies with the 
policies of the Local Plan and is in line with the government planning guidance 
contained within the NPPF.  Therefore, the application is recommended for approval. 
 
8. RECOMMENDATION 
 
That planning permission be APPROVED subject to the following conditions:   
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission. 
Reason:- 
To comply with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (As 
Amended) 
 
2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the submitted amended plans and specifications as follows:- 
 
DRA – 0101 – Rev P.04 dated 4.8.21 
DRA – 0201 
DRA – 0202 – Rev P.02 dated 4.8.21 
 
Reason:- 
To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 
plans, for clarity and the avoidance of doubt. 
 

Page 65



3. Each building on the application site hereby approved shall not be occupied 
by more than four persons at any one time and no person(s) shall occupy any 
of the buildings on the application site for a period of longer than 2 calendar 
months and no person(s) who has occupied any of the buildings shall occupy 
any of the buildings on site again at any time within six months of the day of 
the last occupation of the building. 
Reason:- 
In order to prevent the use of any of the tourist accommodation buildings as a 
permanent unit of accommodation/dwelling which would be harmful to the 
rural character, appearance and amenities of the surrounding area.   
 
4. Before the commencement of the development hereby approved, 
construction method statements outlining protection and mitigation measures 
for badgers, great crested newts, bats and birds shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the measures 
approved shall be undertaken in the construction of the development and any 
mitigation measured identified shall be provided and maintained for the 
lifetime of the development. 
Reason:- 
In the interests of the ecological value of the site. 
 
5. Before the development is first brought into use, bat and bird boxes shall be 
provided on the site in accordance with details to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.  These shall be maintained 
for the lifetime of the development. 
Reason:- 
In the interests of the ecological value of the site. 
  
6. New native tree and hedge planting and landscaping shall be undertaken 
before the development hereby approved is first brought into use and shall 
include planting adjacent to the east boundary of the site, in accordance with 
details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  These details shall include: 
-  Means of enclosure 
-  Hard surfacing materials 
Soft landscape details shall include: 
 -  Planting plans 
-  Written specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated 
with plant and grass establishment) 
-  Schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities where appropriate 
-  Implementation timetables 
Reason:-  
To ensure the appropriate landscape design and in the interests of the visual 
and residential amenities of the area and in the interests of the ecological 
value of the site. 
 
7. The implemented planting scheme shall be subsequently properly 
maintained in accordance with good horticultural practice; any plants which 
are removed, die, become diseased or otherwise fail to establish within 5 years 

Page 66



of planting shall be replaced during the next available planting season and the 
replacements themselves shall then be properly maintained.  
Reason:- 
To ensure the appropriate landscape design and in the interests of the visual 
and residential amenities of the area and in the interests of the ecological 
value of the site. 
 
8. Before the proposed development is brought into use, the pedestrian route 
defined on drawing 0101 P.03 shall be provided and thereafter retained and 
maintained for the use of occupants of holiday lets and of Rosehill for the life 
of the development. 
Reason:- 
In the interests of highway safety. 
 
9. The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the 
parking and turning areas have been provided in accordance with the 
approved plans. The parking and turning areas shall thereafter be retained 
unobstructed as parking and turning areas for the life of the development. 
Reason:- 
In the interests of highway safety. 
 

             10. The demolition and construction works hereby approved shall be carried 
out between 9am-6pm Monday to Friday and between 9am-1pm Saturdays and 
at no time on Sundays or Bank Holidays without the prior written consent of 
the Local Planning Authority. 

         Reason: - 
        To avoid the risk of disturbance to neighbouring dwellings during unsocial 

hours. 
  

11. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local 
Planning Authority. Development should not commence further until an initial 
investigation and risk assessment has been completed in accordance with a 
scheme to be agreed by the Local Planning Authority to assess the nature and 
extent of any contamination on the site.  If the initial site risk assessment 
indicates that potential risks exists to any identified receptors, development 
shall not commence until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to 
human health, buildings and other property, and the natural and historical 
environment has been prepared, and is subject to the approval in writing of the 
local planning authority.    
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation 
scheme and prior to bringing the development into first use, a verification 
report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must 
be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
Reason:- To ensure that the proposed development meets the requirements of 
the National Planning Policy Framework in that all potential risks to human 
health, controlled waters and wider environment are known and where 
necessary dealt with via remediation and or management of those risks 

Page 67



12. No top soil or fill material is to be imported to the site until it has been 
tested for contamination and assessed for its suitability for the proposed 
development, a suitable methodology for testing this material should be 
submitted to and agreed by the Local Planning Authority prior to the soils 
being imported onto site. The methodology should include the sampling 
frequency, testing schedules, criteria against which the analytical results will 
be assessed (as determined by the risk assessment) and source material 
information. The analysis shall then be carried out and validatory evidence 
submitted to and approved in writing to by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason:-To ensure that the proposed development meets the requirements of 
the National Planning Policy Framework in that all potential risks to human 
health, controlled waters and wider environment are known and where 
necessary dealt with via remediation and or management of those risks 

 
 13. The artificial lighting incorporated into this site in connection to this 

application shall not increase the pre-existing illuminance at the adjoining light 
sensitive locations when the light (s) is (are) in operation. 

 Reason: - 
          To protect the local amenities of the local residents by reason of excess of 

luminance. 
 
 14. No amplified sound/ and or music shall be audible within or at the 

boundary of any noise sensitive (occupied) premises either attached to or in 
the vicinity of the premises to which this application refers. 
Reason:- 
The protection of the amenities of the surrounding area and the occupiers of 
nearby residential properties.  

   
15. The machinery, plant or equipment including installed or operated in 
connection with the carrying out of this permission shall be so enclosed 
and/or attenuated that the noise generated by the operation of the machinery 
shall not increase the background noise levels during day time expressed as 
LA90 [1hour] (day time 07:00-23:00 hours) and/or (b) LA90 [15 mins] during 
night time (night time 23:00-07:00 hours) at any adjoining noise sensitive 
locations or premises in separate occupation above that prevailing when the 
machinery is not operating. Noise measurements for the purpose of this 
condition shall be pursuant to BS 4142:2014. The details and location of any 
plant or machinery to be installed under this permission should be submitted 
to and approved of in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason:- 
To safeguard the amenity of local residents and that of the surrounding area 
from noise disturbance. 
 
16. The foul drainage from the proposed development shall be discharged to a 
system which meets the requirements of British Standard (BS) 
6297:2007+A1:2008 Code of practice for the design and installation of drainage 
fields for use in wastewater treatment. 
 
a) There is no connection to any watercourse or land drainage system and 

Page 68



no part of the soak away system is situated within 10 metres of any ditch or 
watercourse. 
b) Porosity tests are carried out to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority to demonstrate their suitable subsoil and adequate land area is 
available. 
 
Reason:- 
To prevent pollution of the water environment. 
 
17. Any waste material associated with the development shall not be burnt on 
site but shall be kept securely for removal to prevent escape into the 
environment. 
Reason: - 
To protect the amenities of the area. 
 
18. Before the development is first brought into use, separate waste collection 
bins shall be provided for each of the buildings. 
Reason:- 
In the interests of the appearance of the area. 
 
19. The surface water drainage shall discharge into existing soakaways at 
Rosehill. 
Reason:- 
In the interests of the ecological value and the amenities of the area.   
 
20.  The works to the site access approved under permission SMD/2019/0751 
shall be completed before the development is first brought into use. 
Reason:- 
In the interests of highway safety. 
 
 
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/in formatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s Decision. 
 
 

Page 69



 

Page 70



 

Page 71



 
 

 

Page 72



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
12 August 2021 

 

Application 
No: 

SMD/2020/0705 

Location Mount Pleasant Farm, Counslow New Road, Freehay, Cheadle 

Proposal Outline application with details of access for the erection of one 
dwelling  

Applicant Mr Richard Heatley 

Agent Malcolm Sales  

Parish/ward Cheadle Date registered: 18.12 2020 

If you have a question about this report please contact: Chris Johnston tel: 01538 
395400 ext. 4123 christopher.johnston@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

 
REFERRAL 
 
The application is before committee at the request of Cllr Alcock.   
 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
 

 
REFUSE 
 

  
 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
2.1 The site is in the countryside about half a mile to the east of Cheadle but is not in 
the Green Belt and there are no specific constraints or designations covering the 
site.  It comprises part of a field belonging to Mount Pleasant Farm.  The site is on 
the north -west side of Counslow New Road and there is an existing vehicular 
access off the road in front of the site and which leads to a modern agricultural 
storage building a short distance to the west within the same site property.  There 
are no other nearby buildings and the site is not enclosed by any fences or boundary 
treatments and is completely open.  The site sits in a field of 1.0 hectare in size and 
is part of an overall landholding of approx. 20 hectares. he land slopes downwards 
towards the north. 
 

3. THE APPLICATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 This is an outline application with all matters except for access reserved for a 
future Reserved Matters application, in the event of an outline approval.  The 
application forms state it would be a two-storey 3-bed dwelling on a site of 488 sq.m.  
A Design and Access Statement has been submitted which states the dwelling is 
required for the landowner to attend to cattle kept on the farmland.  The existing 
access would be used for access to the dwelling.  A location plan and site plan have 
been submitted and which shows the footprint of a dwelling but this is purely 
indicative detail as siting is a reserved matter.    

Page 73

Agenda Item 10

mailto:christopher.johnston@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


  
3.2   The application file including the drawings and details of the proposal together 
with consultation responses can be viewed on the Council website at:  
 
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?
PKID=142986 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
4.1 The only recent applications at the farm are as follows: 
 
DET/2015/0030:  Agricultural storage building.  Prior Approval Refused. 
 
DET/2016/0015:  Agricultural storage building (resubmission of above).  Approved. 
 

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 
5.1  The Development Plan comprises of: 

 The Local Plan Development Document (adopted Sep 2020) 
 
Adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan - Sep 2020 
 
5.2  The following Local Plan policies are relevant to the application:- 
 

 SS1 Development Principles 
 SS10 Other Rural Area Strategy 
 H1   New Housing Development 
 DC1 Design Considerations  
 T1 Sustainable Transport 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 
5.3  Sections: 
 
5:  Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes 
 

6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
6.1    A site notice was posted and displayed outside of the site on 7th January 2021.  
 
Public response to consultation 
 
6.2 None. 
 
Cheadle Town Council 
 
6.3 No objection.  
 
SCC Highway Authority 
 

Page 74

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=142986
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=142986


6.4 No Objection subject to standard conditions.  
 
Environmental Health 
 
6.5 Objection raised due to insufficient information being provided to assess noise 
impacts on future occupiers from nearby noise sources.    The proposed dwelling is 
in close proximity to Croxden quarry, a road and an agricultural barn. A site specific 
noise assessment should be submitted with the application in order to determine the 
current noise environment at the site and the suitability of the location for a 
residential dwelling. Consultation should be made with the Minerals Authority. Any 
approved noise scheme and measurements should pay due regard to British 
Standard BS8233: Sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings (Code of 
Practice), BS4142:2014 Methods for rating and assessing industrial or commercial 
sound and the PROPG: New Residential Development.  
 
Severn Trent Water 
 
6.6 No Objection.  
 

7. OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE 
 

Introduction 
 
7.1 The main issues with the proposal are as follows: 
 

 The principle of the dwelling in this rural location 

 The impact on the character and appearance of the area 

 The impact on the residential amenities of existing dwellings in the area and 
the future occupiers of the site 

 The impact on highway safety 
 
The principle of the development 
 
7.2  Policy SS10 outlines the strategy for development in the countryside.  IN order 
to ensure that new development does not harm the countryside and is provided in a 
sustainable location, the policy restricts new build housing development in the 
countryside to that which has an essential need to be located in the countryside in 
accordance with Policy H 1. 
 
7.3  Policy H1 ‘New Housing Development’ focuses new house building on land 
allocated for this purpose in the Local Plan and also within the development 
boundaries drawn around the towns and larger villages of the District.  With regard to 
new dwellings outside of the development boundaries, some infill development in 
small villages is allowed and also on the edges of large villages.  This does not apply 
to the application site which is surrounded by open land.  In the other areas of the 
countryside, only the following forms of housing development will be permitted; 
 
a) Affordable housing which cannot be met elsewhere, in accordance with Policy 
H 3. 
 

Page 75



b) A new dwelling that meets an essential local need, such as accommodation for an 
agricultural, forestry or other rural enterprise worker, where the need for such 
accommodation has been satisfactorily demonstrated and that need cannot be met 
elsewhere. 
 
c) Proposals for replacement dwellings, provided they do not have a significantly 
greater detrimental impact on the existing character of the rural area than the original 
dwelling or result in the loss of a building which is intrinsic to the character of the 
area. 
 
d) The conversion of rural buildings for residential use where the building is suitable 
and worthy in physical, architectural and character terms for conversion; or where 
such development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or 
would be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage assets. 
 
e) Proposals to redevelop previously developed land provided it is not of high 
environmental value. 
 
f) The subdivision of an existing residential dwelling provided it is not in an isolated 
location.  
 
7.4  The proposal would fall under part b) if it can be demonstrated that the applicant 
needs a dwelling on the site in order to be able to farm the land and also that this 
need cannot be met elsewhere.  The accompanying text with the policy explains that 
a farm workers dwelling proposal will be required to meet functional and financial 
tests to demonstrate the essential need for a rural worker to live permanently at or 
near their place of work in the countryside. 
 
7.5  In this respect, the applicant’s agent provided the following information in 
support of the need for the dwelling: 
 

The applicant’s father started farming in Freehay at Mount Pleasant Farm in 
1956, renting the land from Hulland Gravel.  The farm was demolished in 
1968 as part of the mineral expansion.  He continued farming on the land until 
2006, when it passed it on to Richard upon the death of his father.  Richard 
was also farming at Dilhorne as well as Freehay. The remainder of the holding 
was purchased by Richard in 2012.  Planning Permission was granted in 2016 
for a building on the site for agricultural use. 
 
Richard has approximately 60 beef cattle on site and has to travel to and from 
Dilhorne to the site at least twice every day, 365 days a year.  Richard’s son is 
currently farming with him at Dilhorne and seeks to farm on the Freehay site 
to avoid costly travelling and for security reasons.  We submit that this 
application is approved for agricultural use in connection with the farm at 
Freehay, in an effort to redress the loss of the original farm.  

 
7.6  With regard to the above, although it is understood that it would be ideal to have 
a dwelling on the farm and that this may assist with a more convenient arrangement, 
it is not considered that the information gives any justification for the essential need 
for a dwelling on the site in order for the agricultural business to effectively operate.  

Page 76



Although the applicant also lives and farms in Dilhorne and needs to visit Mount 
Pleasant Farm twice a day, the site is only three miles away from Dilhorne.  There is 
no demonstration of why it is functionally essential for him to live on the site rather 
than travel.  No evidence has been provided to demonstrate that the cost of 
travellign would render the business unviable. There is no information to state how 
much time is required to be present at the farm or the exact farming operations 
which require a significant on-site presence to the extent that the farm worker would 
need to be resident on the site. The information states a presence is required for 
security reasons but there is no elaboration on this.  Previous policy and guidance as  
well as  Appeal decisions have established that security alone will rarely provide 
justification for a new dwelling. Adequate security could also be provided via means 
other than a new dwelling, such as secure fencing and the use of CCTV.    
Furthermore, there are no details of the long-term viability of the farm business or 
why a dwelling is needed  in order to ensure the long term viability of the agricultural 
business.  It is therefore considered that the proposal, on the basis of the information 
provided, fails to meet the functional and financial tests in order to demonstrate an 
essential need for a dwelling on the land. 
 
7.7  No evidence has  been provided of any search for a suitable available property 
in closer proximity to the Freehay site.  The site is less than 2km by road from the 
edge of Cheadle where there is an abundance of housing of various sizes, types and 
cost. The site is only 1.5km from the large new-build housing development off 
Thorley Drive. The proposal would also not fall into any of the other five criteria for a 
new rural dwelling.  Therefore, the proposal would not comply with Policy SS10.   
 
The impact on the character and appearance of the area 
 
7.8  This is an outline application with details such as the scale, design and 
appearance reserved for a future Reserved Matters application.  The forms state it 
would be two-storey dwelling and this would be visible from Counslow New Road 
and also potentially from Ashbourne Road down the slope to the north.   It would be 
visible from an informal footpath crossing fields a short distance to the east but 
unlikely to be visible from other Public Rights of Way in the area.  There are other 
dwellings on farms in the rural parts of the District and a dwelling could be 
accommodated without leading to significant harm to the character and appearance 
of the area subject to the scale, siting and design. Scale and design are reserved 
matters but there are concerns regarding the siting of the proposed building plot 
which is situated some 35m to the east of the existing agricultural building on site. In 
this position it would appear somewhat divorced and isolated from what would 
become, in effect, a new farmstead. It is considered that the proposed dwelling, 
should be sited further to west adjacent to the agricultural building where it would 
form a cluster or grouping of development and buildings. In this position it would also 
be better screened by the road side hedge. However, this does not overcome the 
need to maintain the openness of the countryside in the interests of its overall 
character and appearance and does not overcome the purposes of Policy SS10 in 
focussing new development within the towns and larger villages. 
 
The impact on residential amenity 
 

Page 77



7.9  There are no other nearby dwellings and therefore a proposed dwelling on the 
site can be accommodated without harming the existing residential amenities.   
However, due to nearby noisy land uses arising from both farming and mineral 
workings, there is no demonstration that the occupants of a new dwelling on the site 
would have satisfactory living conditions due to the potential for the effects of noise 
and disturbance.  The Environmental Health Section require a Noise Impact 
Assessment.  Due to the concerns over the residential amenities of future occupiers 
of the site, contrary to Policy DC1 ‘Design Considerations’ of the Local Plan, this is a 
reason to refuse the application 
 
The impact on highway safety 
 
7.10  The existing access is deemed to be safe by the local highways authority for 
the purposes of being used to access a new dwelling. 
 
Conclusion and Planning Balance 
 
7.11  New dwellings in the open countryside are allowed only under limited 
circumstances in order to protect the open and rural character and appearance of 
the countryside and ensure development is located in sustainable areas, such as 
towns and larger villages.  A dwelling for a farm worker in the countryside can 
comply with the Local Plan where it has been demonstrated that this is essentially 
required for agricultural purposes.  It is not considered that sufficient justification has 
been given for this and therefore the principle of a new dwelling on this rural and 
open site is not acceptable and does not comply with Policy SS10, the strategy for 
the countryside.  Furthermore, due to noisy land uses from nearby farming and 
minerals operations, it has not been demonstrated that the future occupants of the 
site would have an adequate level of residential amenity or living conditions, contrary 
to Policy DC1.  Finally the siting of the proposed dwelling would appear isolated and 
would not relate well to the existing buildings on the site. The proposal does not 
comply with the Local Plan or NPPF and therefore the application is recommended 
for refusal. 
 

8. RECOMMENDATION 
 

A. That planning permission be REFUSED for the following reasons:- 
 

1.  Policy SS10 of the Council’s Local Plan restricts new build housing 
development in the countryside to that which has an essential need to be 
located in the countryside in order to protect the character and appearance of 
the countryside and ensure sustainable development.  This can include 
agricultural workers dwellings where the need for such accommodation has 
been satisfactorily demonstrated and that need cannot be met elsewhere, in 
accordance with Policy H1 of the Local Plan.  The Council considers that 
insufficient justification has been given for the essential need for a dwelling to 
be located on this site for the purposes of the agricultural business on the 
property where the site is located. The proposed dwelling is therefore contrary 
to Policy SS10 ‘Other Rural Areas Strategy’ and H1 ‘New Housing 
Development’ of the Council’s Local Plan (adopted September 2020) and 

Page 78



would also not be in line with government planning guidance contained in the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 
2.  The site is located where there is significant noise from nearby agricultural 
and minerals workings.  It has not been demonstrated that the residential 
amenities/living conditions of the future occupants of the site would be 
protected from noise and disturbance arising from nearby uses of land.  The 
proposal is therefore contrary to Policy DC1 of the Local Plan which looks to 
protect the character and amenities of the area, including residential amenity.    
 
3. The proposed site would appear isolated and divorced from the existing 
building on site and would not relate well to it. As such it would be detrimental 
to the open character and appearance of the countryside in this location 
contrary to Policy DC1 of the adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan and 
the NPPF. 
 
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/in formatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s Decision. 
 
 

 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
12 August 2021 

 

Application 
No: 

SMD/2021/0296 

Location Land at Cheadle Equestrian Centre, Eaves Lane, Cheadle, ST10 
1RB 

Proposal Erection of a rural workers dwelling  

Applicant Jennifer Thompson, Vecthom Sports Horses 

Agent Sammons Architectural Ltd 

Parish/ward Cheadle Date registered: 7th May 2021 

If you have a question about this report please contact: Benjamin Hurst tel: 
07738506367 benjamin.hurst@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 
REFERRAL 
 
The application is before committee at the request of Cllr Mike Worthington.   
 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
 

 
REFUSE 
 

  
 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
2.1 The site comprises part of a private access road from Eaves Lane and a largely 
flat area of partly gravelled, partly grassed land, where the proposed dwelling would 
be constructed. The site is within a larger plot of land owned by the applicant, which 
includes grass fields, an outdoor equestrian exercise area, an indoor equestrian 
arena, a stable block, a 2-storey dwelling (Stable Cottage) with garage, and various 
other buildings and storage areas associated with the equine use. The existing 
stable building is a timber, American style barn that was built by the applicant, 
without planning permission, to replace a simple concrete run of old riding school 
stables.  
 

2.2 The applicant’s land is within a valley, which slopes upwards from Eaves Lane in 
the west, with the gradient increasing significantly to the rear of the 2-storey dwelling 
to the east of the site. The landscape is predominantly farmland, interspersed with 
hedgerows, narrow lanes, woodland and occasional buildings.  
 

2.3 Eaves Lane is within the settlement of Cheadle according to the extant proposals 
map from 1998, the boundary for which is unchanged in this vicinity, in the adopted 
Local Plan. The countryside that surrounds Cheadle is described in the ‘Landscape 
Character Assessment’ (LCA) as Ancient slope and valley farmlands and amongst 
its key characteristics are Small scale mainly ancient irregular fields bounded by 

Page 81

Agenda Item 11

mailto:benjamin.hurst@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


trees and hedgerows and Isolated properties. The LCA also identifies a number of 
incongruous landscape features, which include Localised industrial and residential 
development. 
 

3. THE APPLICATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 The applicant seeks planning permission to build what would be a second 
dwelling on her land ownership, in an isolated, other rural location that is outside the 
settlement boundary of Cheadle. She makes the case that it is essential for her to 
live in the proposed dwelling as a rural worker engaged in the commercial interest of 
her premises and that the existing dwelling, Stable Cottage, currently occupied by 
her parents, is not suitable. The application is very similar to an application 
(SMD/2019/0088) that was refused planning permission and dismissed at appeal 
less than two years ago. The site of the proposed dwelling would be on the southern 
edge of the appellant’s land, to the west of the stable building, the indoor equestrian 
arena and other associated buildings. The nearest part of the proposed dwelling 
would be more than 30 metres from the brick-faced building by the stable and 
several metres lower than it and the other main Equestrian Centre buildings.  
 

3.2 The proposal would be a 2-storey, four bedroomed brick building (including a 
room identified on plan as a ground floor office) under a plain clay tile roof. A single 
storey outrigger to the rear would supplement ground floor space to provide a large 
open plan kitchen diner and living area; a utility/shower room; a boot room; and an 
office. A post and rail fence supplemented with a native hedgerow, would enclose 
and form a domestic curtilage to the front and rear of the property.  
  
3.3 The applicant did not seek any pre application advice from the Council regarding 
the application. Details of the application scheme can be viewed at:  
 
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?
PKID=128617 
 

4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
4.1 The planning history has particular relevance because it confirms the 
presence of an ‘available’ dwelling at ‘Stable Cottage’ that is already located on site 
and under the applicant’s ownership, registered as land title SF294781. It also 
references those permissions that provide the authorised status of land uses relating 
to the equestrian enterprise as a riding school.     
 
78/05665/OLDDC Alteration to old dilapidated farm building to form stables and tack 
room with loft. Approved (the building that later became ‘Stable Cottage’). 
 
81/09881/OLDDC Covered Riding Arena and stables (provided inside arena 
building) for 20 working riding school horses. Approved. 
 
82/11438/OLDDC Conversion of existing stable block into instructor’s living 
accommodation for temporary 2 year period. Approved. (‘Stable Cottage’) 
 

Page 82

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=128617
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=128617


83/011831/OLDDC Extension to the covered riding area building to form viewing 
area. Approved. 
 
83/011853/OLDDC Line of 8 stables adjacent to indoor riding arena, to provide for 
the limit of 20 working horses. Approved. 
 
84/13537/OLDDC Extension to stable block to add one stable and two hay stalls. 
Approved.  
 
84/13666/OLDDC Instructor’s Living Accommodation, renewed temporary 
permission for 5 years. Approved (Stable Cottage). 
 
85/14412/OLDDC Full conversion to permanent instructor’s accommodation in the 
form of a two storey three bedroom dwelling. Approved (Stable Cottage). 
 
92/1183 Feedstore, foaling box, covered standings, catering and toilets. Approved. 
 
91/0522 pony stalls, tack rooms and office. Approved. 
 
SMD/2019/0088 Erection of a rural workers dwelling. Refused and Dismissed at 
Appeal. 
 
4.2 Following her purchase, the applicant, without planning permission, removed 
and replaced the original pre-existing stables with a new timber built ‘American barn’ 
style building.  
 

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 
5.1  The Development Plan comprises of: 

 The Local Plan Development Document (adopted Sep 2020) 
 
Adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan - Sep 2020 
 
5.2  The following Local Plan policies are relevant to the application:- 
 

 SS1 Development Principles 
 SS10 Other Rural Area Strategy 
 H1   New Housing Development 
 DC1 Design Considerations  
 DC3 Landscape and Settlement Setting 
 NE1 Biodiversity and Geological Resources 
 T1 Sustainable Transport 

 
Staffordshire Moorlands Design Guide 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 
 

6. CONSULTATIONS 
 
A site notice was posted and displayed on the 18th May, Expired on the 8th June. 

Page 83



14 near neighbours were notified in writing with a letter dated the 18th March. 
 
Public response to consultation 
 
6.1 Two responses have been received. Both object to the proposal and their 
comments have been summarised below: 
 

 We objected to the original application (SMD/2019/0088) in 2019 on several 
grounds, and many of these original concerns are still relevant, this is, in 
essence, the same application as in 2019, and the dwelling would still be very 
large for the needs of a a rural worker. 

 

 Stable Cottage, a large 3 bedroom detached dwelling with a separate garage, 
is already on site and was initially provided as a dwelling for a worker at the 
riding centre. Consequently there are already two people living on site.  

 

 The sewerage filtration system will drain on to the sloping side of the valley 
and the field  is often waterlogged in winter. Its natural drainage is downhill 
onto the poorly maintained unadopted track and public footpath. 

 

 The small bore pipe struggles to provide the three properties  with adequate 
water  pressure now, and obviously, the more water demands placed on the 
system, the worse the problem gets.  

 

 The track is poorly maintained at present, particularly upwards to the  
property, Plantation House. This is due to a combination of water damage 
from poor field drainage, and heavy business traffic and delivery vehicles.  
Expansion of that business, 2 more cars for extra resident workers, 
construction traffic during the build, and the potential for extra field water can 
only compound the problem, further detracting not only from the quality of life 
of the existing owners, but also from the potential saleable value of our 
respective properties. 

 
Cheadle Town Council 
 
6.4 Object on the grounds of size and scale, its proximity to the Greenbelt and 
open countryside.  
 
SCC Highway Authority 
 
6.5 No Objection. Eaves Lane is a rural lane with multiple residential properties 
served off it, an additional dwelling off the existing access track will not have a 
significant effect on the highway.   
 
Environmental Health 
 
6.6 No objection subject to conditions relevant to working hours, unexpected 
contamination, methods of demolition and construction, drainage, and lighting.    
 

Coal Authority 

Page 84



 
6.7 No Objection providing no development is carried out before a scheme of 
intrusive investigations has been carried out on site to establish the risks posed to 
the development by past shallow coal mining activity;  and any remediation works 
and/or mitigation measures to address land instability arising from coal mining 
legacy, as may be necessary, have been implemented on site in full in order to 
ensure that the site is made safe and stable for the development proposed.  The 
intrusive site investigations and remedial works shall be carried out in accordance 
with authoritative UK guidance. 
 
Severn Trent Water 
 
6.8 No Objection. There would be minimal impact on the public sewerage system. 
 

7. OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE 
 

Introduction 
 
7.1 This is a very similar application to the one that was dismissed at appeal less 
than two years ago, to build a dwelling for a rural worker in an isolated ‘other rural’ 
location, outside the settlement of Cheadle, where planning permission should only 
be granted in exceptional circumstances. With this submission the proposal has 
been revised to make reductions to the size of the proposed dwelling, make it look 
more like a traditional red brick ‘Moorlands’ dwelling, and some additional supporting 
information has been provided. The approach here, is to follow the considerations 
point for point, as they were set out by the Planning Inspector, and to consider 
carefully, against his comments, whether the objections have been addressed to the 
extent that matters now weight in favour of the development. The main issues are: 
 

 The effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area 

 The effect of the proposal on land stability 

 Whether the proposal would be an isolated dwelling in the countryside and, if 
so, whether there is an essential need for a second dwelling to accommodate 
rural worker(s) 

 
Design and Visual Impact (Character and Appearance) 
 

7.2 The Inspector began his decision by setting out the impact and harm that the 
development would impose on the character and appearance of the area, before 
going onto consider whether the development could be exceptionally provided in 
such a location and, effectively, whether there are factors that would outweigh the 
extent of that harm.    
 

7.3 The Inspector makes the following concluding comments in respect of the 
previously proposed development’s impacts: 
 
The design, scale, massing and position of the proposed dwelling, would make it a visually 
prominent feature that would be seen across several hundred metres of open countryside to 
the east of Cheadle. When seen with the existing equestrian buildings and Stable Cottage 
beyond, it would have an urbanising effect on the landscape that would detract from its 

Page 85



character and appearance…….Some new tree planting is proposed to the front and side of 
the proposed dwelling. However, even once mature, this would not satisfactorily screen the 
dwelling in views from the west, where it would appear as an incongruous feature in the 
landscape. 

 

7.4 Due to the vegetation and sloping geography of the land, and its position relative 
to public footpaths and Cheadle, the proposed dwelling would be most visible in 
views from the west and north. With this proposal the development would occupy 
essentially the same site and largely the same positioning as that of the previous 
proposal, albeit some reorientation has turned this proposal so that its front elevation 
would be square on to the footpath opposite. However, there have been some 
revisions to the design, scale and massing of the proposed dwelling that must be 
acknowledged.  
 

7.5 The front elevation of the proposed dwelling, at 11.7m would be slightly wider 
than that of the previous proposal (11.12m).  However, with this proposal the 
applicant has omitted an adjoining double garage, a central contemporary glazing 
feature, and used segmented brick arches instead of straight lintels above windows. 
They have reduced the height and mass of the roof by reducing the eaves height by 
0.6m, ridge height by 1.5m, and narrowing the two storey side gable from a width of 
8.2m to 6.2m.    
 

7.6 Despite these changes, the design, scale, massing and position of the proposed 
dwelling, would still make it a visually prominent feature that would be seen across 
several hundred metres of open countryside to the east of Cheadle. The building 
would still be seen as a large detached brick dwelling, in an exposed and prominent 
countryside location, albeit the dwelling would be less large than that of the previous 
proposal, and there would still be significant harm here. When seen with the existing 
equestrian buildings and Stable Cottage beyond, it would have an urbanising effect 
on the landscape that would detract from its character and appearance. This harm is 
not obviously resolvable by simply reducing the size of the dwelling, because, in this 
location and positioning any dwelling would appear exposed and prominent.    
 
7.7 For these reasons, the proposed development would adversely affect the 
character and appearance of the area. It would therefore conflict with policies DC1 
(design) and DC3 (landscape and settlement setting) of the Staffordshire Moorlands 
Local Plan  and with the NPPF, in this regard. 
 
Land Stability (potential presence of close surface coal workings) 
 

7.8 The site falls within a Development High Risk Area according to the Coal 
Authority (CA). The CA expressed fundamental concern in respect of the previous 
proposal and a ‘coal risk assessment’ had not been submitted. The Inspector found 
therefore, that the development would be at an unacceptable risk from land 
instability. The property is in an area where the Coal Authority believe there is coal at 
or close to the surface. This coal may have been worked at some time in the past. 
The potential presence of coal workings at or close to the surface should be 
considered prior to any site works or future development activity.  
 
7.9 With this application a ‘Coal Mining Risk Assessment’, prepared by 
EnviroSolution Ltd, has been provided. The report identifies that the principal risks to 

Page 86



the development are from the potential presence of unrecorded shallow coal mine 
workings and possible unrecorded mine entries. It recommends that intrusive site 
investigations ( 3, 10m deep, water flushed boreholes) are required to further assess 
this risk.   
 
7.10 The Coal Authority have confirmed that they have no objection, providing no 
development is carried out until these investigations have been carried out and any 
necessary remediation works have been implemented on site in full in order to 
ensure the site is made safe and stable for the development proposed. Typically, this 
will involve voids pumped and filled with grout materials, and the Coal Authority do 
not anticipate any necessary work as being beyond what might otherwise be 
considered an industry standard. 
 
7.11 Therefore, for the reasons given above, it can be concluded that the proposed 
development would not be at an unacceptable risk from land instability and therefore 
there would be no conflict with paragraphs 170, 178 and 179 of the Framework. In 
these regards, the objection to the previous proposal has been addressed.  
 
Isolated dwelling in the countryside and essential need to accommodate rural 
worker(s) 
 
7.12 The Inspector then went on to consider whether the previous proposal would be 
an isolated dwelling in the countryside and, if so, whether there is an essential need 
for a dwelling to accommodate rural worker(s). The word ‘isolated’ is not defined in 
the NPPF. In this case, the proposal would be located a distance to the west of, and 
at a lower elevation, than the main existing Equestrian Centre buildings and a much 
greater distance from Stable Cottage. Furthermore, it would be several hundred 
metres outside the nearest settlement boundary. In the view of the Inspector, the 
location of the proposed dwelling means it would be isolated and in the countryside. 
With reference to Policy SS10 (Other Rural Strategy), H1 (New Housing 
Development) and paragraph 79 of the NPPF, such dwellings should be avoided 
unless one of the listed exceptions apply, of which only bullet point 5b of H1 or sub-
paragraph a) of paragraph 79, could apply in this case, namely a new dwelling that 
meets an essential local need as accommodation for a rural worker. Before 
considering the needs of the business, in respect of this, the Inspector began with 
the comment: 
 
From the limited evidence, it is not possible for me to reach a firm conclusion regarding all 
the lawful uses at the Equestrian Centre. 
 

7.13 This became an issue particularly because, shortly after the purchase of the 
site.  The applicant, without planning permission, replaced a simple run of small 
concrete stables  with a larger ‘American’ style barn with stable stalls within. The 
work has improved the stabling facility so that larger more valuable horses might be 
stabled. However, without a planning application the planning authority has not had 
an opportunity to consider or establish whether the development has introduced 
changes to the land use that might raise concerns relevant to planning control (e.g. 
traffic flow, extent of community access and benefit, employment) – in the absence 
of a relevant planning application, it is not clear  whether the site now lawfully 
provides facility for livery, a riding school, breeding facility, or private pursuit. This of 

Page 87



course makes it difficult and problematic when it comes to assessing  the essential 
needs of a business where elements have not been authorised or established as 
lawful. This is still a matter that has not been resolved or progressed by the 
applicant.  
 
The activity and viability of the existing business 
 

7.14 Nevertheless, in the following comments the Inspector considered, in respect of 
the previous proposal, whether there was a viable business operating at present or 
that would remain viable for the foreseeable future:  
 
No substantive documentary evidence has been provided in relation to the business before 
the acquisition of the land that includes the  site; or in relation to the business that existed on 
this land prior to the acquisition of it; or, in relation to the current business, for which the 
appeal development is sought……….. From the submitted statements and anecdotal 
evidence, I am not satisfied that there is a viable business operating at present or that would 
remain viable for the foreseeable future  
 

A viable business is something that would be necessary in order to be able to 
demonstrate that there is an essential need for a second rural worker’s dwelling. It is 
necessary to understand the detail and viability of the business to determine whether 
there is an essential need for a worker to live in a second dwelling on the site and 
whether the business can financially sustain the provision of a second dwelling as 
viable investment. That will involve looking at how the business has arrived and 
developed to a current position, how it currently trades and suggested projections. 
 

7.15 The land was purchased by the applicant in November 2018. A riding school 
within this land existed in the late 1970s / early 1980s, with various incremental 
changes and additions undertaken subsequently, according to the planning history 
contained in this report. The Cheadle site has only been in the ownership of the 
applicant for a relatively short period of time and, therefore, a retrospective review of 
the business origins, before purchase, should assist with an understanding of how it 
operates and is viable.  With this application, some additional evidence had been 
provided relating to the business before the purchase of the Cheadle property, 
amounting to the 2017 and 2018 accounts for a business registered as VSH 
Dressage Ltd, 2018 accounts for an unlimited business referred to as Vecthom 
Sportshorses, a letter from the equine vet, and a letter from a business 
acquaintance/customer. The vet has known the applicant for 15 years and is of the 
opinion that she has built a ‘very successful business’ over that time, however, he 
does not qualify that opinion, it is not clear what he considers to be successful. 
Moreover, he confirms that the applicant has only more recently started to breed 
quality sports horses. A previous customer, Paula Charlton, appears to be describing 
an arrangement where over the years the applicant has sourced and imported 
horses for her stud, this does not confirm an established, profitable and successful 
breeding programme, and this ties in with the vets assertion that breeding is a more 
recent venture. Throughout the application process dialogue has remained open with  
continuing discussion and an exchange of correspondence, providing the applicant 
with opportunity to supplement their application with additional evidence and 
explanation.    
 

Page 88



7.16 Prior to the purchase of Stable Cottage and the Cheadle site, the applicant and 
her parents lived as a family at Beech Villa at Blackshaw Moor from 2003.  In 
available planning history her parents were stating themselves to be the owners of 
Beech Villa, up until April 2015 when, in planning applications, the applicant began to 
state herself to be the owner, after, she says, she purchased Beech Villa from her 
parents.  Retrospective planning permissions were granted at Beech Villa for 
unauthorised developments already carried out, including a  manege and stable 
barn, the use of both were restricted to private enjoyment by condition which 
prohibited any trade or business. Despite this, there were three limited companies 
registered to Beech Villa of which Miss J Thompson was director - Vechtom Sports 
Horses Agency Ltd, VSH Transport Ltd, and VSH Competition Horses Ltd all of 
which were dissolved by the end of 2017.  The applicant has not submitted any 
accounts or details that explain these businesses.  
 
7.17 Stable cottage was bought in Nov 2018 for £603,000, funded by the sale of 
Beech Villa for  £555,000  and a business mortgage loan. Currently, active 
companies for which the applicant is director are listed as VSH Dressage Horses Ltd 
registered in May 2016, so transferred from Beech Villa to the Cheadle property, and 
Vecthom Stud Ltd registered in June 2018.  The applicant has not provided accounts 
or details relating to Vecthom Stud Ltd as it is not currently trading, it is discounted 
as making contribution to existing activity or viability.  Additionally, it is said, there is 
a third business, not registered as a limited company, Vecthom Sportshorses. 
 
7.18 Accounts have been provided for VSH Dressage Horses Ltd made (after 
tax)  £10,285 in yr 1 (as at May 2017),  £16,201 in yr 2 (as at May 2018), Loss £931 
(as at May 2019) Loss £698 (as at May 2020). The applicant explains that the losses 
referred to in 2019 and 2020 result from a cumulation of animal losses, disruption 
from business relocation, Brexit, and then the Covid pandemic. It is said that the 
climate has unnerved people and made them less open to making significant 
financial investments but also raised issues with transportation and importation cross 
border boundaries etc for which the business is extremely sensitive to.   
 
7.19 The third business, Vecthom Sportshorses which has been trading since 2017 
(according to statements submitted) with pre-tax profits £27,776 (as at March 2018) 
£26,080 (as at March 2019) £28,352 (as at March 2020) £37,720 as at (March 
2021). Appears to be at the core of the applicant’s business and profitability. A 
google search of Cheadle Equestrian Centre or Vecthom Sporthorses links one 
website of substance Vecthomsporthorses.com. The website appears to describe 
three strands to the business: 
 

 Livery of varying service levels, from £120 -£200 per week, with options to 
rent time on the arenas from £20 per horse per hour (13 stables in total, 
however, website also says “the yard is mostly private of my own 
showjumpers so there are just a few spaces available making this a non-livery 
yard”) 

 Importation of Warmbloods Sport Horses from Europe. The applicant explains 
that she imports and sells quality sports horses to elite competitors, the 
horses do not often stay at her yard for long, and her trade varies throughout 
the year.  

Page 89



 Sales Livery plus 10% commission, the applicant will stable and market a 
horse for a customer  

 
7.20 Currently there are no horses available for sale through the website. In an 
exchange of correspondence where queries were raised about the information 
available, the applicant distances herself from the website, which she says is not up 
to date, she prefers to point to her Facebook page. The page was created on 4th 
May 2013.  It currently has 12,089 followers and 11,797 likes.   The applicant says 
“the page is constantly updated and several horses (approximately 45) have been 
listed on here for sale since the start of the year”. However, on review, it is not clear 
how that detail is extracted from the more general social media exchanges that 
appear on the page, or whether horses were imported, bred on site, private horses of 
her own, or horses sold for others.   
 
7.21 The applicant does confirm however, that currently livery  is reduced to two 
customers, one customer stables a horse while it receives training at the centre and 
the other owns two with both her and her son having training at the centre.  The 
applicant explains that the main reason for the reduction in livery numbers is less to 
do with the capacity taken by her own private horses, as explained on the website, 
but mainly due to losses which have occurred as a result of her not living in a 
suitable dwelling on site.   It is said that owners lack confidence and are concerned 
that if their horses were sick or injured then the centre would be slow to act due to 
the applicant not living on site.     
 
7.22 It seems clear that stud breeding and foaling has not formed a significant part of 
business activity or profitability.  Vecthom Stud Ltd is not currently trading and VSH 
Dressage Horses Ltd has been trading at a loss. The applicant accepts such activity 
has been sparse, in one statement it is explained as a cumulation of animal losses, 
disruption from business relocation, Brexit, and the Covid pandemic; and in another 
statement she points directly at losses incurred because she does not live on site 
and has been unable to deal with problematic foaling.   
 
7.23 The applicant does not discuss in her submissions the predicted build costs 
associated with the new dwelling, how that would be funded, and deliver return as an 
investment for the business. Estimated build costs would, it is thought, be at least 
£300,000, made all the more costly by land stability mitigations to deal with historic 
coal mining.   The applicant anticipates however that should the dwelling be 
permitted the build would be funded through savings with any shortfall added onto 
the commercial mortgage.  
   
7.24 In summary and conclusion, the evidence does appear to suggest that the 
applicant is turning some steady but moderate profit from her livery services, which 
is limited because capacity is taken by her own private horses; and some trade in 
mainly horses that she says are imported from Europe, which are sold unbroken and 
do not need to be stabled by her for any particular length of time. In both of those 
respects, it is not clear why it is essential to provide a second dwelling on the site to 
support current business practices as described, which appear to continue to 
function while the applicant lives off site. There is clearly some business activity on 
the site but this does appear to be mixed with and against considerable private 
interest and pursuit as an owner, experienced rider and trainer, for which there is no 

Page 90



specific exception policy to provide a dwelling in the isolated other rural location.  
There is claim that the applicant’s ability to start breeding and foaling her own 
horses, as a regular source of income, is curtailed because she does not have a 
dwelling on site. However, there is no evidence to show how such attempts might fair 
if she had been living on site in the existing dwelling at Stable Cottage, potentially 
the losses and complications that she refers to might not have occurred. If there was 
an essential need for the applicant to live on site, the occupation of Stable Cottage 
would be immediate priority. It is not clear that the profits reported demonstrate a 
level of viability and profitability to obviously support the further investment and 
construction of a sizeable dwelling on site. Overall, this application submission does 
not, in these regards, address the Inspector’s objection. This second revised 
application does not satisfactorily demonstrate that there is a viable business 
operating on the applicant’s land for which there would be an essential need to 
provide a rural worker’s dwelling. 
 
Functional need for a second dwelling to accommodate a rural worker 
 

7.25 There is claimed to be an essential need for just a single worker to live 
permanently at or near to the Equestrian Centre - the applicant. The reasons for this 
are to ensure the welfare and security of horses and foals stabled at the Equestrian 
Centre throughout the day and night, should they become ill, get into difficulties such 
as becoming cast, or to protect from being drugged or stolen. A response to an 
animal in such difficulty would be needed in a very short time - a matter of just a few 
minutes. However, there is already a sizeable dwelling on site under the applicant’s 
ownership. Stable Cottage was originally provided to accommodate the previous 
owner as a rural worker at the facility. The applicant claims that Stable Cottage 
would be unsuitable for them to live in for a number of reasons, including the 
distance from the stables for monitoring and the accessibility to them in an 
emergency, which would inhibit the welfare and security of the horses. In considering 
whether ‘Stable Cottage’ might already provide suitable accommodation and whether 
there is a functional need for a new second dwelling, the Inspector made the 
following comments: 
 
CCTV cameras, microphones and alarms would seem to be an effective means of 
monitoring the welfare and security of the horses throughout the day and night……. the 
distance [between stable cottage and stables] is just a few hundred metres and could be 
travelled in a short time, particularly if in response to an emergency in the stables….the 
eastern entrance to the stable block is significantly closer to Stable Cottage. Furthermore, 
the concrete steps with a wooden handrail leading from the entrance up to the grass field, 
and gates on both sides of the field leading to Stable Cottage, indicate that a route between 
them is both intended and with some basic maintenance undertaken, practical. no 
substantive evidence has been provided to show that it would not be possible to connect a 
CCTV system, with microphones and alarms, to Stable Cottage where the images and 
sounds could be monitored……. 
 

7.26 The proposed dwelling would face in a generally north westerly direction with its 
side elevation towards the stable block, although partly screened by the proposed 
garage and by hedge planting on the side boundary. The appellant’s stated intention 
is to be able to monitor the stable block and hear any signs of disturbance from the 
animals as a result of this proximity, drawing upon their experience in the industry. 
The short distance between the proposed dwelling and the stable block would also 

Page 91



enable a swift response to be made as necessary. CCTV cameras are installed in 
the stable block to monitor the animals, with the images currently relayed to an office 
at the western end of the stable block. To reach the western entrance of the stable 
block from Stable Cottage would involve travelling along the access drive in a 
somewhat circuitous route, a distance seven or eight times longer than would be the 
case from the proposed dwelling. Nevertheless, the distance is just a few hundred 
metres and could be travelled in a short time, particularly if in response to an 
emergency in the stables. The eastern entrance to the stable block is significantly 
closer to Stable Cottage. Furthermore, the concrete steps with a wooden handrail 
leading from the entrance up to the grass field, and gates on both sides of the field 
leading to Stable Cottage, indicate that a route between them is both intended and 
with some basic maintenance undertaken, practical.  
 

7.27 This application still does not provide any substantive evidence to demonstrate 
why technology systems, could not, wirelessly or otherwise, relay digital images, 
sounds or alarms to Stable Cottage, perhaps using wifi or data signal. Such a 
system would presumably be essential to alert any occupant, regardless of where 
they live, to potential emergency or distress, rather than simply leaving it to chance 
that they might hear noises in their sleep and wake up. Once alerted to an 
emergency or distress the response time from Stable Cottage, would be very similar 
to that of a response from the proposed dwelling. In respect of this, there is no 
technical evidence that demonstrates there is no data signal coverage or that 
wireless signals cannot be boosted.  
 

7.28 Stable Cottage is owned by the applicant, who has allowed the dwelling to be 
occupied by her parents since acquiring it, while she lives off site in nearby 
settlement. At the appeal hearing one parent was said to be employed part-time in 
the applicant’s business, a role that is not one for which there is an essential need 
for them to live at or near the Equestrian Centre. However, more latterly with this 
application, the applicant makes the case that her parents are both elderly and 
require care. Her mother in particular has medical conditions and disabilities and 
doctor’s evidence has been presented in respect of that.  The applicant’s preference 
not to share the dwelling with their parents, and their particular care needs in the 
future, does not alter the fact that a dwelling house exists near to the Equestrian 
Centre, which could be used for a rural worker to live in, were there to be an 
essential need for them to do so. Overall, this application submission does not, in 
these regards, address or outweigh the planning harm identified in the Inspector’s 
objection. This second revised application does not satisfactorily demonstrate that if 
there was a viable business operating, it would not be practical with some 
investment, for Stable Cottage to be used as such a rural worker’s dwelling, without 
a significant risk of harm to any animals 
 

7.29 Moreover, the Inspector made the following comments about the size of the 
previously proposed dwelling relative to the need for a single rural worker:  
 
the size of the proposed dwelling would be unnecessarily large relative to the stated need for 
a single rural worker, notwithstanding that parts of the building could be used for personal 
and business use. That the appellant may want to start a family at some point in the future 
has no direct bearing on this matter. Furthermore, the appellant’s desire to live near to 
Cheadle and to bring the Equestrian Centre back into productive use do not in themselves 
constitute an essential need for a large dwelling in the countryside. 

Page 92



 

7.30 With this proposal, there have been notable reductions in these respects. A roof 
space media room and an upstairs bedroom have been omitted. The proposed 
dwelling would however, effectively contain 4 generous bedrooms, including the 
room identified as a ground floor office, and would also include a large open plan 
living room, 8 person dining space, entrance hall, and a utility/bootroom space. The 
size of the proposed dwelling would still be unnecessarily large relative to the stated 
need for a single rural worker, notwithstanding that parts of the building could be 
used for personal and business use. That the applicant may want to start a family at 
some point in the future has no direct bearing on this matter. Furthermore, the 
applicants desire to live near to Cheadle and to bring the Equestrian Centre back 
into productive use do not in themselves constitute an essential need for a large 
dwelling in the countryside.  
 
 
Other Considerations 
 
7.31 The application form specifies the use of a sceptic tank to provide for foul 
drainage and a soakaway to control surface water drainage. The submitted site plan 
indicates the use of a packaged treatment plant with irrigation to a field in the 
applicant’s ownership. The flow of surface water can be controlled sustainably 
through use of soakaway, discharging on to land under the applicant’s ownership 
and preventing discharge on to the shared access. There is no reason why drainage 
can not be dealt with in this manner under the separate building and environmental 
regulations. There is no issue of harm raised here.  
 

7.32 There has not been any objection from Severn Trent Water. There is no 
evidence that the supply of mains water, already provided to three properties, 
including the equestrian buildings. This is effectively a civil matter between land 
owners. There is no issue of harm raised here. 
 

7.33 The track is privately owned and maintained serving a number of properties, 
including the equestrian facility that has a history of commercial use. It has the 
expected character of a stoned rural lane or farm track, and varies in surface 
condition accordingly. Maintenance is essentially a civil matter between private 
owners and users. However, it clearly serves a number of properties and over and 
above existing use, the introduction of an additional single dwelling should not 
substantially increase maintenance demands.  
 
Conclusion and Planning Balance 
 
7.34 In respect of the previous proposal the Inspector made the following 
conclusions: 
 
I am not satisfied that there is a viable business operating on the appellant’s land for which 
there would be an essential need to provide a rural worker’s dwelling. Furthermore, there is 
no substantive evidence before me that shows that if there was such a business, it would not 
be practical with some investment, for Stable Cottage to be used as such a rural worker’s 
dwelling, without a significant risk of harm to any animals…….For these reasons, the 
proposed development would be an isolated dwelling in the countryside, and an essential 
need for such a dwelling to accommodate a rural worker has not been demonstrated. 

Page 93



 
7.35 Despite some moderate revision to the proposal and reduction in size and 
scale, the dwelling would still be a large, visually prominent feature, seen across 
open countryside to the east of Cheadle. It would, when seen with the existing 
equestrian buildings and Stable Cottage beyond, have a harmful urbanising effect on 
the landscape that would detract from its character and appearance, and would in 
itself appear as an incongruous feature in the landscape. This would therefore 
conflict with policies SS10, DC1, and DC3 of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 
and with the NPPF in this regard. The dwelling would be  isolated in the countryside 
and, against that harm and conflict with the development plan, there is no 
exceptional reason or provision to be made for the dwelling, as an essential need for 
such a dwelling to accommodate a rural worker has not been demonstrated.  The 
development would, in these regards, conflict with policy SS10 and H1 of the Local 
Plan and the NPPF, and in this case the rural exception policies do not provide 
reason to outweigh or set aside the harm identified above.  
 

8. RECOMMENDATION 
 
A. That planning permission be REFUSED for the Erection of a Rural Worker’s 
Dwelling, for the following reasons: 
 
1. The design, scale, massing and position of the proposed dwelling, would 
make it a visually prominent feature that would be seen across several 
hundred metres of open countryside to the east of Cheadle. When seen with 
the existing equestrian buildings and Stable Cottage beyond, it would have an 
urbanising effect on the landscape that would detract from its character and 
appearance. This harm could not be mitigated through tree planting or 
landscaping, because, even once mature, it would not satisfactorily screen the 
dwelling in views from the west, where it would appear as an incongruous 
feature in the landscape. For these reasons, the proposed development would 
adversely affect the character and appearance of the area. It would therefore 
conflict with policies SS10 (other rural area strategy), DC1 (design) and DC3 
(landscape and settlement setting) of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 
September 2020 (SMLP) and with the NPPF, in this regard. 
 

2. The submitted evidence does not satisfactorily demonstrate that there is a 
viable business operating on the land for which there would be an essential 
need to provide a rural worker’s dwelling. Furthermore, there is no substantive 
evidence that shows that if there was such a business, it would not be 
practical with some investment, for Stable Cottage to be used as such a rural 
worker’s dwelling, without a significant risk of harm to any animals. For these 
reasons, the proposed development would be an isolated dwelling in the 
countryside, and an essential need for such a dwelling to accommodate a rural 
worker has not been demonstrated. Therefore, the proposal would conflict 
with Policies SS10 (Other Rural Areas Strategy) of the SMLP and with the 
NPPF, in this regard. 
 
B. In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/in formatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 

Page 94



the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s Decision. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 95



 

Page 96



  

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
12 August 2021 

 

Application 
No: 

SMD/2021/0264  

Location Upper Moor End Farm, Stoney Lane, Cauldon   

Proposal Two no. proposed shepherd’s huts for use as holiday lets  

Applicant Mr. and Mrs. C. Rhodes 

Agent Mrs Julia Allen, Julia Allen Building Design 

Parish/ward Waterhouses / Hamps Valley Date registered 12th April 2021 

If you have a question about this report please contact: Arne Swithenbank  
tel: 01538 395578 or e-mail arne.swithenbank@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

 
REFERRAL 
 
The application is a Full Minor and is referred to Committee at the request of 
Cllr Wain (Hamps Valley Ward Member and Portfolio Holder for Planning, 
Development And Property) in order for Committee to consider in particular the 
access and its weight and width capacities in regard to a cattle grid bridge and 
the delivery of the ‘Shepherds’ Huts’.   
 
 

1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
 

 
 Approve  
 

 
 

2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 

2.1  Upper Moor End Farm is a detached stone farm house set back 80m from 
the public Road and accessed via a single track farm lane which is also a 
public footpath right of way and which also serves a rear access track to 
properties on Stoney Lane, other farm land beyond and Honey Hole Farm.   

 
2.2  There are some outbuildings to the immediate NE of the farm house 

separated by a narrow yard.  There is also yard area to the rear (NW) of 
the farm house which is open to the two proposed hut positions. An open 
fronted store / livestock building erected following consent under 
SMD/2019/0775 stands in the SW rear yard corner and at an LPA visit this 
spring was housing sheep.  The farm house has no obvious or identifiable 
garden or curtilage at the rear and the yard butts up with the house walls.  
A public footpath right of way passes through the farm yard between the 
sites of the proposed huts. 

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 12

mailto:arne.swithenbank@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk


  

 
3. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL  

 
3.1  Two ‘Shepherds’ Huts’ holiday accommodation units are proposed 5.75m 

in length x 2.27m wide and 3.3m in overall height to roof ridge top. 
Materials: painted laminated vertical timber boarding; insulated metal 
‘barrel’ roof painted to match the laminated vertical timber boarded walls. 
 

3.2  A design and access statement accompanies the application. Although 
this several times refers to East Staffordshire BC the policy references 
quoted appear to be the SMDC Local Plan Policies and indeed the agent 
has confirmed that reference to East Staffordshire is a typing error. The 
huts are designed to sleep up to two people each and have a kitchenette 
and ensuite shower room.  They are heated by log burning stove.  The 
scheme includes proposals for an on-site foul water drainage and 
treatment facility. 

 
 
4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

4.1  There is a lengthy planning history including of potential relevance: 
 

4.2  79/07253/OLDDC – construction of vehicular access – approved – [this re-
positioned slightly the road link and initial route of the farm lane]. 
 

4.3  10/01105/FUL – change of use of outbuilding to form ground floor family 
room, first floor bedroom and en-suite – approved – [this relates to the 
attached stone building now forming the NE end of the dwelling].  
 

4.4  SMD/2018/0472 – retrospective application to change the use of 
surrounding agricultural land to extend the existing yard area - creation of 
earth bund with appropriate landscaping (engineering operation, re-routing 
the highway access drive, removal of the existing rented caravan and 
providing 2 new caravans with suitable access for disabled visitors - the 
proposal also includes permission to erect an open sided shelter for 
lambing etc. – withdrawn. 
 

4.5  A submitted Part 6 prior notification for a lambing shed (ref 
DET/2019/0005) was withdrawn after it was found ineligible due to the 
holding size being less than 5ha. 
 

4.6  SMD/2019/0775 – open fronted agricultural building for use as a lambing 
shed – approved – built and in use Paid-for pre-application advice was 
provided under PAD/2020/0055. 

 
4.7  Paid-for pre-application advice was provided under PAD/2020/0055. 
 
 

 
 

Page 98



  

5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 

5.1 Local Plan (adopted 9th September 2020) 
SS1 Development Principles 
SS10 Other Rural Areas Area Strategy 
DC1 Design Considerations 
DC2 The Historic Environment  
DC3 Landscape and Settlement Setting 
E1 New Employment Development 
E4 Tourism and Cultural Development   
H1 New Housing Development 
NE1 Biodiversity and Geological Resources 
NE2  Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows 
T1 Development and Sustainable Transport 

 
National Planning Policy Framework February 2019 
Paragraph(s) 1 – 14;  
Section(s) 4 – Decision making; 6 – Building a strong and competitive 
economy; 11 – Making effective use of land; 12 – Achieving well designed 
places; 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment; 16 – 
Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. 
 
Adopted Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance (SPD/G): 
• Space About Dwellings SPG 
• Design Principles SPG 
• Design Guide SPD adopted 21st February 2018 

 
Local Plan Supporting Evidence Documents: 
• Landscape and Settlement Character Assessment (2008) 

 
 

6. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 
 

Public 
6.1 The last consultation expiry date was 8th June 2021 with, prior to that, 

neighbour consultation period to 17th May 2021 and press advertisement (due 
to public footpath passing through the site) to 26th May 2021.  

 
6.2 One representation was received (from a resident of Stoney Lane) querying the 

access and whether the applicants would have the right to use it for this 
proposed development if they do not own it.  The owner appears not to have 
been consulted.  The Highways response recommends a condition to require 
binding surfacing to the junction with the public road “but they do not own it”.  

 
 Waterhouses Parish Council  
6.3 Co not object 
 

SCC Highways 
6.4 No objections on Highway grounds to this proposal.  The Highways Officer 

initially recommended a condition to surface the access track for 5m back from 

Page 99



  

the highway to provide support to the carriageway and prevent damage to the 
carriageway.  However, this was on the understanding (as had appeared from 
the initial application submission) that the applicant owned the track from the 
public road. 

 
6.5 When it transpired that the applicant did not own the track at the road junction 

the Highways Officer agreed that the suggested condition would be 
unreasonable (by reference to the Government’s six tests for planning 
conditions).  It was further agreed and advised that it would not be appropriate 
or necessary to refuse the application just because this particular condition 
could not be implemented. 
 
Severn Trent Water 

6.6 Minimal impact on the public sewer system therefore no objections and no 
requirement for a drainage condition. 

 
 

7. POLICY AND MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS / PLANNING BALANCE  
 
Principle of Development and Main Issues 
 

7.1 SS10 for the ‘other rural areas’ (which this location is in) says: 
These areas will provide only for development which has an essential need to 
be located in the countryside, supports the rural diversification and 
sustainability of the rural areas, promotes sustainable tourism or enhances 
the countryside. The Council and its partners will achieve this through the 
following actions: 

   
7.2 SS10(2) is to sustain the rural economy by [first two points] 

• Enabling the limited expansion or development of business for 
employment uses where a rural location can be justified 

• Supporting the diversification of existing farm enterprises 
 
7.3 SS10(5) is to enhance tourist opportunities by:  

• Allowing for small-scale tourism developments in other areas [than the 
Churnet valley] (in accordance with policy E 4); 

 
7.4 Local Plan policy E4 for Tourism and Cultural development is that:  

New tourism and cultural development which complements the distinctive 
character and quality of the District will be supported having regard to the 
Area Strategies in Policies SS5 to SS10 and Churnet Valley Strategy Policy 
SS11. 
 

7.5 E4(1) is that: “New tourist, visitor and cultural accommodation, attractions and 
facilities should be developed in locations that offer, or are capable of offering 
either: 

A) good connectivity with other tourist destinations and amenities, particularly 
by public transport, walking and cycling; or 
B) in locations in or close to settlements where local services, facilities and 
public transport are available; or 

Page 100



  

C) in areas specifically identified for tourism development in the Churnet 
Valley Masterplan or other relevant documents. 

 
7.6 E4(2) is that New accommodation, attractions and facilities should: 

A) support the provision and expansion of tourist, visitor and cultural facilities 
in the rural areas where needs are not met by existing facilities; and 
B) all development shall be of an appropriate quality, scale and character 
compatible with the local area, protect the residential amenity of the area, 
enhance the heritage, landscape and biodiversity of the area and shall not 
harm interests of acknowledged importance. 

 
7.7 As a proposed new development offering accommodation for tourist visitors the 

proposal falls to be considered under E4.  The considerations therefore are 
whether the development would have good connectivity [E4(1)(A)]; and would 
have proximity to settlements and services [E4(1)(B)]; and if not, would 
otherwise meet needs that are not provided for elsewhere E4(2)A and be 
appropriate and compatible as per E4(2)B. 

 
7.8 There are certainly degrees of connectivity with local attractions and some 

proximity to services.  The application DAS provides a comprehensive schedule 
at section 7. 

 
7.9 Public footpaths converge through Moorend from five directions.  The site is 

c.900m on foot to the famous Yew Tree Inn; about 1200m to the Cross Inn at 
Cauldon and the ‘larger’ village of Waterhouses is 2.6km by road and c.2km to 
walk by combination of road and cross-field footpaths. Waterhouses has the 
benefit of the main road between Ashbourne and Leek and some bus services.  
There is also a pub, village store and fish and chip shop. 

 
7.10 Whether needs are met by existing facilities may often be difficult to assess 

conclusively but this application seeks to demonstrate a niche service provision 
by being dedicated to low numbers of people and only up to a maximum of two 
in each cabin.   

 
7.11 It can be judged significant that the proposed siting of the cabins in association 

with an existing farmstead buildings cluster would help assimilate the 
development without causing overt intrusion into the landscape.   

 
 

Design 
 
7.12 There may not be any particular authenticity or tradition behind the ‘Shepherd’s 

hut’ concept in the Staffordshire Moorlands and any examples there may once 
have been have long disappeared but the concept has the advantage of 
appearing low key and transient in terms of the structure.  Seen in close 
association with the farm setting and using timber walls the structures should 
not seem especially out-of-place.  Metal sheet cladding to the roof is also very 
akin to later 20thC and more recent farm building and structures. 

 

Page 101



  

7.13 These are modestly sized items and at this particular site the two site positions 
afford some screening by combination of topography and backdrop / trees / 
hedging.  There is also scope to add hedging to the more visually exposed 
boundaries NW of hut 1 and NE of hut 2 and this should be made subject to 
condition.   

 
 
 Amenity 
 
7.14 The public footpath would be unaffected.  The dwelling at Honey Hole Farm 

150m to the north would be in sight of the development and would have views 
of it but the development could not be considered to intrude on their amenity or 
be overbearing and at this distance would be unlikely to result in disturbance.  
Whilst there are closer neighbours in the terrace on Stoney Lane the 
development may be less noticeable from there and the overall assessment low 
or zero impact would also apply – likewise for Lower Moor End 200m to the 
east.  

 
7.15 Due to the small size of the accommodation and the nature of the location and 

no assigned private amenity space (which would not be appropriate) it would be 
important to condition their use solely as holiday lets. 

 
 
 Highway Safety 
 
7.16 With satisfactory parking and turning available, the scheme is acceptable in 

highways terms.   Although a condition had initially been recommended to add 
additional surfacing to the track junction with the public road (“in a bound and 
porous material for a minimum distance of 5m back from the carriageway edge 
of Stoney Lane”), now that it is apparent that the track is not in the applicant’s 
ownership it would be unreasonable to attach the condition, as there would be 
no certainty that the applicant could implement the condition, a point agreed in 
correspondence with the Highways Authority.  Whilst improved surfacing would 
be beneficial, the access is in all other respects acceptable and the surfacing 
not so problematic that the development should not proceed.  The development 
would be likely to lead to only a light increase in a ‘domestic’ type of traffic.  An 
informative to suggest entrance surfacing would be desirable can be included. 

 
 

Other matters 
 
7.17 Objection was raised that necessary certificate B notification in relation to 

ownership of the access track did not accompany the application as first 
submitted.  The access track between the public road and the farm is in 
separate ownership from the applicant.   After the LPA raised this with the 
agent the applicant served notice on the owner of the track by letter dated 9th 
June 2021 and corresponding certificate B has been provided in an amended 
application form of the same date. 

 

Page 102



  

7.18 The ward member’s concern in relation to the ‘bridge’ / cattle grid has been 
examined in a further site visit made by the case officer.   The structure 
appears solid and not unduly restricted in width.  The matter has also been 
discussed with the agent and applicant and they have advised that each 
Shepherd’s hut is sectional on delivery and will be brought in by trailer towed by 
the applicant’s car for final construction on site.  They point out that the access 
track has to carry farm traffic to and from both Upper Moor and Honey Hole 
farms / former farm and to and from adjacent fields and the Shepherds’ huts will 
be relatively minor deliveries by comparison. Ultimately in any event the 
structural load carrying capacity of the access track and in particular the cattle 
grid would be a private matter and not a material planning consideration for the 
Local Planning Authority.  

 
 

8. Conclusion and Planning Balance 
 
8.1 This is a relatively modest scheme which would not be dominant in the 

landscape – indeed it would be relatively secluded.  By being positioned in 
close association with a small active farmstead the accommodation huts would 
not appear incongruously in the open.  For these reasons and taking account of 
the materials, colour and ephemeral or transient form of the development as 
discussed in the report, and with some additional hedge planting, the scheme 
can be judged to meet the requirements of E4(2)(B).  There is a reasonable 
case to conclude that the scheme has good connectivity and good proximity to 
existing attractions and would therefore be acceptable in principle under 
E4(1)(A) and E4(1)(B) – both of which are requirements unless alternatively the 
scheme can be shown to provide for un-met demand.  At this small scale it is 
likely that the scheme would find its specified niche customer base and 
therefore also fit the latter.  On balance in consideration of all of the above the 
scheme is recommended for approval. 

 
 
8 RECOMMENDATION  

 
A. Approve subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 

of three years from the date of this permission. 
Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 51 of the Town and 
Country Planning, Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, 2004. 
 

2.  The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the details as submitted in the application form and submitted 
specifications and as shown in drawings: 

   JABD.293.001 Rev A 
JABD.293.002 Rev A 
JABD.293.003 Rev A 
JABD.293.004 Rev A 

Page 103



  

Reason:  To ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the submitted details and approved plans, in the 
interests of good planning, for clarity and the avoidance of doubt. 
 

3. The external facing and roofing materials shall be as stated in the 
submitted application  details and plans using timber painted to an 
‘earth’ colour for the walls and roof in metal of colour to match the walls 
and there shall be no variation without the prior consent in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority. 
Reason:  To ensure that the works harmonise with the location and 
existing development.  

 
4. By the end of the first full available planting season November to 

February inclusive following the completion or the first coming into use 
of the development whichever is the earlier a hedge comprising a 
double row of hawthorn (Crataegus monogyna) whips of stem height 
20cm to 40cm shall be planted at 45cm staggered spacings in two rows 
set 30cm apart alongside the site boundary to the north west and north 
east of hut two as marked on the site plan hereby approved.  The 
plantings shall be protected from grazing wild mammals or livestock by 
means of guards and mesh fencing. Any plants which die or are lost or 
otherwise fail to establish in the first five years following the completion 
of the planting shall be replaced in the next available planting season 
(November to February inclusive) with plants of the species, form and 
size as originally planted. The planting shall thereafter be allowed to 
grow and be maintained for the lifetime of the development. 

 Reason:  In the interests of the appearance of the development in 
the landscape and for biodiversity. 

 
5. The accommodation cabins hereby approved shall only be used for 

short stay holiday accommodation not exceeding 4 weeks continuously 
by the same individual whether alone or as part of a group and for not 
longer  than 4 weeks in any three month period whether alone or as part 
of a group. A register of occupants including details of duration of stay 
shall be kept by the owner / proprietor of the premises and shall be 
made available for inspection by the Local Planning Authority upon 
request at any time in normal office hours. The cabins hereby approved 
shall not be sold, let or otherwise occupied as a sole or main residence 
for any person or persons at any time. 

 Reason:  In order to control the nature of the permission as the 
premises are not considered suitable for permanent residential 
occupation. 

 
 
Informatives    
 
1. A public footpath right of way passes through the site and this must not 

be obstructed at any time during the development and must remain 
available for public use on foot at all times both during development and 
on completion.  Should temporary closure or diversion be necessary to 

Page 104



  

allow the works to proceed then application should be made to the 
Staffordshire County Council Public Rights of Way officer. Contact: 
Rights of Way, Staffordshire County Council, 2 Staffordshire Place, 
Tipping Street, Stafford ST16 2DH. Email: 
rightsofway@staffordshire.gov.uk 
Tel: (01785) 277244 or 277247 

 
2. The applicant is advised of the desirability of improving the surface of 

the access track for 5m back from the highway at Stoney Lane using a 
bound porous material.  

 
3. The proposed development is judged to be of suitable design and meets 

the tests of sustainability in planning.  There are not judged to be any 
adverse implications for neighbours or wider public amenity and street 
scene.  As the application was considered acceptable there was no need 
for any negotiation or amendment as would otherwise be advocated 
within the National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 38. 

 
 
B In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision 
 

 
 

10. APPENDICES TO THE REPORT 
 
10.1 The link below to the Council’s website is where the detail of this 
application can be viewed. 
 
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchS
ervlet?PKID=147624 
 

Page 105

http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=147624
http://publicaccess.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/portal/servlets/ApplicationSearchServlet?PKID=147624


  

10.2 – location plan 

  

Page 106



STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
PLANNING APPLICATIONS COMMITTEE 

 
12 August 2021 

 

Application No: SMD/2021/0332 

Location Beech Cottage, Cheadle Road, Oakamoor 

Proposal Single Storey side extension to the rear of Beech Cottage   

Applicant Mr and Mrs Plimley 

Agent Smytheman Architectural Services 

Parish/ward Oakamoor Date registered: 27/05/2021 

If you have a question about this report please contact: Lisa Li 
email:  Lisa.li@highpeak.gov.uk 

 
REFERRAL 
 
This application has been put before committee because the applicant is a District 
Councillor 
 
1. SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION 
 

 
APPROVE with conditions 
 

  
 
2. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS 
 
2.1 The application site sits along a row of semi-detached properties within the 
settlement boundary of Oakamoor. The property is also located in the Conservation 
Area. 
 
2.2 The property itself dates from 1910 and has had a substantial, unified extension 
at the rear which is well designed and sits neatly to the rear of the main building. A 
further single storey lean-to has been constructed across the rear of both properties.  
 
2.3 Access to the side and rear of the application site is taken via a shared drive with 
Highfields, Cheadle Road. 
 
3. THE APPLICATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
3.1  Planning permission is sought for a single storey side/ rear extension and will 
feature a lean-to roof with two Velux windows and a three-panel sliding door. The 
extension will provide additional space for the kitchen.  
 
3.2 In addition, one of the windows next to the extension will be replaced for a door 
serving the dining area.  
 
3.3 The extension will use materials that match the existing. 
 

Page 107

Agenda Item 13



4. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 
None.   
 
5. PLANNING POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION 
 
Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (Adopted Sept 2020)  
 
5.1 The Development Plan comprises the Local Plan Development Document 
(adopted September 2020). 
 
5.2  The following Local Plan policies are relevant to the application: 

 SS2 – Settlement Hierarchy  

 SS9- Smaller Villages Areas Strategy   

 DC1 – Design Considerations 

 DC2- The Historic Environment 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) Revised (2019) 
 
5.3  The following sections of the NPPF (2019) are particularly relevant to this 
application: 

 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
6. CONSULTATIONS 
 

Neighbour letters Expiry date for comments: 16/06/21 

Site Notice Posted 08/07/21 

Press Notice 14/07/21 

 
Public response to consultation 
6.1  One neighbour representative received 

 The extension potentially infringes on the vehicular access to the garage and 
parking space at the rear of No.4.  

 The property is on the market, would the planning application still apply? 
   
Oakamoor Parish Comments 
6.2  No objection. 
 
Severn Trent Water 
6.3  No objection. 
 
Conservation officer  
6.4  No objection subject to revision of the extension from flat roof to pitch in the 
original scheme and the scheme integrates with the building as a whole. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 108



7. OFFICER COMMENT AND PLANNING BALANCE 
 
7.1 The main issues relate to: 

 Principle of development 

 Heritage and visual impact 

 Neighbouring amenity 

 Highway safety 
 
Principle of Development 
 
7.2 The site is within the smaller village of Oakamoor where policy SS9 seeks to 
allow an appropriate level of sensitive development which enhances community 
vitality. Limited development, including infill will be supported subject to this policy.  
  
7.3 The proposed development is considered small-scale. Accordingly, the general 
principle of development is considered to be acceptable subject to other materials 
considerations including design, impact on residential amenity.  
 
Heritage, Design and visual impact  
 
7.4 Section 16 of the NPPF sets out the government's advice on conserving and 
enhancing the historic environment. Paragraph 196 states that where a development 
proposal which will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits 
of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.  
 
7.5 Policy DC1 refers to design and seeks to secure development of a high quality 
which is designed to add value to the area and to respect the site and its 
surroundings. New development should promote a positive sense of place and 
identity through its scale, density, layout, siting, landscaping, character and 
appearance.  
 
7.6 Policy DC2 states that development affecting the significance of a designated or 
non-designated heritage asset and its setting will be expected to preserve or 
enhance its significance. 
 
7.7 The Conservation officer was consulted under the original scheme. It was noted 
in the officer’s comments that the property sits across the road from the Grade II 
Listed Light Oakes Estate. The proposal will have no impact on the setting of the 
Listed Building but there will be limited views from the roadside and it will have the 
potential to impact on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  
 
7.8 Referring to the original extension, the officer notes that although the proposed 
extension will not extend beyond the front gable, it will still be seen from the road and 
the flat roof will jut out and the overall form will not relate well to the existing 
proportions of the building. Given its location, it should have a pitched roof and look 
to integrate with the building as a whole. The proposed structure will only have 
limited impact on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area but the 
Council expects high standards of design with all proposals as outlined in Local Plan 
Policies and the Design Guide.  

Page 109



 
7.9 In view of the Conservation Officer’s comments, amendments to the scheme 
were requested by the Case Officer to alter the design of the extension in a 
sympathetic way. The applicant amended the roof pitch of the extension and 
retained the circular window headers above the proposed door however, retained the 
patio doors serving the enlarged kitchen. It was considered that whilst the three-
panel patio doors will contrast with the circular window headers on the ground floor, 
the revised scheme is a significant improvement to the original that reflects the 
overall character of the dwelling in a sympathetic way. The extension will also tie in 
well with the adjacent neighbour which also has a lean-to side/ rear extension 
creating some symmetric in the process. The Conservation Officer has later 
considered the revised scheme as visually acceptable. From this, the scheme is 
considered to be acceptable and it is considered that it would not result in any harm 
to designated heritage assets or their setting. Therefore, the proposed development 
accords with Policy DC2 and National Policy with regard to heritage. 
 
7.10 In terms materials to be used, they will match the existing which will be in 
keeping the existing dwelling and immediate neighbours and in view of the 
conclusions above, the scheme is considered to be generally in keeping with the 
character and appearance of the existing dwelling and the area generally.  
 
7.11 This application is therefore considered to be acceptable in design terms and in 
accordance with Policy DC1 of the Local Plan. 
 
Impact to neighbouring amenity 
 
7.12 Paragraph 127(f) of the NPPF (2019) and policy DC1 seeks to secure 
development that protects amenity, including residential amenity, in terms of 
satisfactory daylight, sunlight, outlook, privacy and soft landscaping.  
 
7.13 The main neighbouring property that this proposal would impact upon is 
Highfields, Cheadle Road. The extension will sit adjacent the neighbouring property.  
 
7.14 The proposed extension is to be located to the side/ rear of the building. It is 
considered that the neighbours’ privacy across the site will be maintained as the 
extension will directly face the shared private driveway and windowless lean-to 
extension. Given that the extension will be contained within the angle formed by the 
existing building, it is not considered that any overshadowing impacts would occur.  
 
7.15 Taking the above into account, this application is therefore considered to be in 
accordance with Policy DC1 of the Local plan. 
 
Highway Safety 
 
7.16 Policy T1 of the Local Plan states that permission will only be granted for 
development incorporating adequate and satisfactory parkng provisions. 
 
7.17 The proposed development will not alter the existing parking arrangements and 
will not increase the number of bedrooms of the property. As such, the proposal will 
not have a detrimental impact on the adopted highway. This application is therefore 

Page 110



considered to be in accordance with Section 9 of the NPPF and Policy T1 of the 
Local Plan. 
 
Other Matters 
 
7.18 A neighbour raised concerns with the vehicular access to their garage to the 
rear of the application site. The Case Officer is of the opinion that the extension does 
not infringe on the vehicular access and sits within the site boundary. Should the 
extension extend beyond the site boundary onto third party land, this would be 
contrary to the proposed plans submitted and would generate an enforcement issue. 
Notwithstanding this, encroachment and landownership issues are a civil matter 
between neighbours. 
 
7.19 Referring to the marketing of the property, a planning application can be 
considered subject to the certificate of the application form has been correctly 
signed. No evidence has been provided to dispute what has been submitted. The 
planning permission, if granted, travels with the land rather than the owner.  
 
Planning Balance & Conclusions 
 
7.20  The proposal would respect the scale and character of the existing dwelling 
and would not adversely affect the amenities of the neighbouring properties or the 
setting of designated heritage assets. Accordingly, the application is to be 
considered to be in accordance with the NPPF and the Local Plan. It is therefore 
recommended for approval subject to conditions. 

 
8. RECOMMENDATION 
 
A That planning permission be APPROVED with the following conditions:   
 
1: The development to which this permission relates must not be begun later than the 
expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
  
REASON: To comply with Section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act, 2004. 
 
2: Unless non-material variations are agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority the development shall be carried out in accordance with the plans and 
documents detailed below:  

 Drawing no: MP21-SA-XX-XX-DR-A-0101 Location and Block Plan 

 Drawing no: MP21-SA-XX-XX-DR-A-0204 P.02 Proposed Floor Plans 

 Drawing no: MP21-SA-XX-XX-DR-A-0404 P.02 Proposed Elevations 
 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the details of the 
development are acceptable to the Local Planning Authority. 

 
3: The facing materials to be used on the external walls and roof shall as specified on 
plan MP21-SA-XX-XX-DR-A-0404 P.02, received by the Council on 14/07/21 

 
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory external appearance and for the avoidance of 
doubt. 
 

Page 111



Informative 
 

 This is considered to be a sustainable form of development and so complies 
with the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 Please note that there is no guarantee that you will be able to build over or 
close to any Severn Trent sewers, and where diversion is required there is no 
guarantee that you will be able to undertake those works on a self-lay basis. 
Severn Trent state that every approach to build near to or divert their assets 
has to be assessed on its own merit and the decision of what is or isn't 
permissible is taken based on the risk to the asset and the wider catchment it 
serves. It is vital therefore that you contact Severn Trent at the earliest 
opportunity to discuss the implications of any of their assets crossing your 
site. Failure to do so could significantly affect the costs and timescales of your 
project if it transpires diversionary works need to be carried out by Severn 
Trent. 

 
 

B.  In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/in formatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Head of Development Services has delegated authority to do so in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Planning Applications Committee, 
provided that the changes do not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s Decision. 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 112



 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 SMD/2021/0290 - Nab Hill House, Nab Hill Avenue, Leek
	7 SMD/2021/0210 - Greywoods, Cheddleton Road, Leek
	8 SMD/2021/0145 - Land on North East side of Rivendell Lane, Leek
	9 SMD/2020/0656 - Rosehill, Nabb Lane, Alton
	10 SMD/2020/0705 - Mount Pleasant Farm, Counslow New Road, Freehay
	11 SMD/2021/0296 - Land at Cheadle Equestrian Centre, Eaves Lane, Cheadle
	12 SMD/2021/0264 - Upper Moor End Farm, Stoney Lane, Cauldon
	13 SMD/2021/0332 - Beech Cottage, Cheadle Road, Oakamoor

